
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

ADVISORY PARKING COMMITTEE 

CITY COMMISSION ROOM 

151 MARTIN ST., BIRMINGHAM, MI 

 (248) 530-1850 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 3, 2018, 7:30 A.M. 

1. ROLL CALL 

2. RECOGNITION OF GUESTS  

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES, MEETING OF 

JULY 11, 2018  

 

3. PARKING PLAN RECOMMENDATIONS 

PRESENTATION 

 

4. DATA ANALYTICS PROGRAM 

RECOMMENDATION AND 

UTILIZATION DASHBOARD 

PRESENTATION - ACTION 

 

5. GARAGE-  SWEEPER PURCHASE 

RECOMMENDATION – ACTION 

 

6. PARKING GARAGE HANDICAP 

PARKING SPACES SURVEY AND 

RECOMMENDATION - ACTION 

 

7. LOT 12 SURVEY AND 

RECOMMENDATION - ACTION 

 

8. BSD ANNUAL HOLIDAY MARKETING 

CAMPAIGN - ACTION 

9. MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORTS 

10. MEETING OPEN FOR MATTERS NOT 

ON THE AGENDA 

7. NEXT MEETING: NOVEMBER 3, 2018 

 

                            

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             

Persons with disabilities that may require assistance for effective participation in this public meeting should 

contact the City Clerk’s Office at the number (248) 530-1880, or (248) 644-5115 (for the hearing impaired) 

at least one day before the meeting to request help in mobility, visual, hearing, or other assistance.  

 

Las personas con incapacidad que requieren algún tipo de ayuda para la participación en esta sesión pública 

deben ponerse en contacto con la oficina del escribano de la ciudad en el número (248) 530-1800 o al (248) 

644-5115 (para las personas con incapacidad auditiva) por lo menos un dia antes de la reunión para solicitar 

ayuda a la movilidad, visual, auditiva, o de otras asistencias. (Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964). 



City of Birmingham 
ADVISORY PARKING COMMITTEE 

REGULAR MEETING 
Birmingham City Hall Commission Room 

151 Martin, Birmingham, Michigan 
Wednesday, July 11, 2018 

 
MINUTES 

 
These are the minutes of the Advisory Parking Committee ("APC") regular 
meeting held on Wednesday July 11, 2018. The meeting was called to order at 
7:30 a.m. by Chairman Al Vaitas. 
 
Present:  Chairman Al Vaitas   
   Vice-Chairperson Gayle Champagne 
   Anne Honhart  
   Steven Kalczynski                   
   Lisa Krueger 
   Judith Paskiewicz (arrived at 7:35) 
 
Student  
Representative: Anjay Yaple    
 
Absent:  None      
 
SP+ Parking: Catherine Burch 
   Sara Burton 
   Jay O'Dell    
     
Administration: Austin Fletcher, Asst. City Engineer 
   Tiffany Gunter, Asst. City Manager 
   Carole Salutes, Recording Secretary 
 
 
RECOGNITION OF GUESTS (none) 
 
 
MINUTES OF REGULAR APC MEETING OF APRIL 4, 2018 (previously 
approved) 
 
 
MINUTES OF REGULAR APC MEETINGS OF MAY 2, 2018 AND JUNE 6, 2018 
 
Motion by Ms. Honhart 



Advisory Parking Committee Proceedings 
July11, 2018 
Page 2 of 6 
 
 
Seconded by Ms. Krueger to approve the minutes of the regular APC 
meetings of May 2 and June 6, 2018. 
 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas:  Honhart, Krueger, Champagne, Kalczynski, Paskiewicz 
Nays:  None 
Abstain:  None 
Absent:  Paskiewicz 
 
Motion carried, 5-0. 
 
 
THREE HOUR MAXIMUM AND MANDATORY ROOFTOP VALET ASSIST 
PROGRAM 
 
Ms. Gunter noted that the Old Woodward Ave. construction project is nearing 
completion. The APC had made a recommendation in March 2018 to overcome 
the loss of 130 on-street parking spaces during the construction. In an effort to 
mitigate the impact on our transient parkers and ensure full utilization of the 
available rooftop valet assist program, it was recommended that the City restrict 
the first levels of parking in the structures to a maximum of three hours and 
require that monthly permit holders use the rooftop valet assist program to create 
additional capacity in the parking system by an additional 250 spaces whenever 
the garage reaches capacity.  
 
The permit rule change requiring monthly permit holders to utilize the rooftop 
valet assist began in April 2018. The rooftop valet assist program has 
experienced a significant increase in usage when compared to the same period 
in 2017. 
 
Additionally, the recommendation called for a change in policy on the first levels 
of the parking structures moving from no parking between 7 a.m. and 9 a.m./10 
a.m. to a maximum 3-hour parking Monday – Friday from 7a.m. – 6 p.m. The 
goal of the program was to create higher turnover in the most heavily sought- 
after parking spaces in the garage. Under the former policy, the premium spaces 
were full by 9 a.m./10 a.m. in many cases. Under the 3-hour maximum rule, SP+ 
and staff  have observed that spaces remain available throughout the day, even 
during the lunch rush.  
 
Understanding that the recommendation represented a significant change in 
existing policy, the APC voted to approve the recommendation as a temporary 
option through the period of construction on Old Woodward Ave. and revisit the 
discussion as a potential for a longer term solution based on the results of this 



Advisory Parking Committee Proceedings 
July11, 2018 
Page 3 of 6 
 
 
demonstration. The demonstration period has been positive. Through discussion 
the monthly permit holders seemed to understand that the City does have the 
obligation to satisfy both long and short-term parking in the structures. Also, the 
on-street valet program did utilize several of the 3-hour maximum parking spaces 
to accommodate the Birmingham Shopping District’s on-street valet program. 
The garages were pushed nearly to their maximum capacity during construction 
and it was found that in many instances they experienced utilization of 95% or 
higher during peak hours of the day, but still managed the bulk of the demand 
consistently. 
 
Staff is recommending that the City continue the program as a long-term solution 
without a predetermined sunset.  The cost to maintain a sufficient level of 
enforcement for the 3-hour maximum parking is $3,112/month. 
 
Ms. Burton responded to Ms. Honhart's question about how enforcement is 
carried out for people who park more than three hours in the 3-hour limit area on 
the first level of each structure.  She explained that SP+ enforcement officers go 
around and scan the license plates. If vehicles have been parked for more than 
three hours, then they issue a warning ticket with no dollar amount associated.  If 
a license plate has had more than three warning tickets the Police Dept. is 
notified and they issue a real ticket.  The number of warning tickets issued has 
dropped since SP+  began issuing them, so people are getting used to the 3-hour 
limit and following the rules. 
 
Motion by Ms. Champagne 
Seconded by Ms. Krueger that the Advisory Parking Committee 
recommends that the City Commission continue to require monthly permit 
holders to utilize the rooftop valet assist option and retain the 3-hour 
maximum parking signage in all garages as an on-going program at a cost 
of $3,112/month. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas:  Champagne, Krueger, Honhart, Kalczynski, Paskiewicz. Vaitas 
Nays:  None 
Absent:  None 
 
Motion carried, 6-0. 
 
 
CONTINUATION OF ON-STEET VALET ASSIST PROGRAM 
 
Ms. Gunter recalled that during the Old Woodward Ave. construction project, the 
Birmingham Shopping District ("BSD") began a robust on-street valet parking 
program to support the merchants and enhance the shopping, dining and 



Advisory Parking Committee Proceedings 
July11, 2018 
Page 4 of 6 
 
 
recreation experience for residents and visitors that wanted hassle free access to 
downtown Birmingham. The on-street valet program featured five (5) valet stands 
at key entry points around downtown. In the first week of operation, there were 
350 vehicles recorded using the service. Over the weeks, the usage has 
remained steady around 750 cars per week. That’s approximately 3,000 cars per 
month. The City has received very positive feedback regarding the program and 
many requests have been made to continue it post-construction.  
 
The program has offered complimentary valet services for the first two hours with 
a $5 charge for each additional hour. The BSD has supported the complimentary 
service with a payment to In-House Valet $26,000/ month. This includes five 
stands operating from 10 a.m. – 6 p.m. Monday through Friday. As the City and 
staff contemplate the continuation of this service, there are a few factors to 
consider  with the recommendation to continue these services through the end of 
January:  
This is a premium service that seems to make visitors and residents very happy. 
After some negotiation with In-House Valet they are down to $700 per stand, per 
week for two stands, one at the northern end of town and one at the  southern 
end. 
This program would cost approximately $36,000.  The BSD would contribute 
$10,000 and the Parking Enterprise Fund would cover the balance with $26,000. 
The rate to valet would be $5.00 for the first two hours and an additional $5 for 
each subsequent hour.  The average valet user stays no more than two hours.  
The cars are being parked in the structures.  
The goal is to monitor usage over the next six months to determine if the 
program will continue to perform well in a non-construction environment and then 
re-evaluate the usefulness of the on-street valet services under normal 
conditions and determine if there is an argument for permanence. 
 
Chairman Vaitas and Ms. Honhart were concerned that it seems a little skewed 
with the BSD contributing $10,000 and the Parking Fund contributing $26,000.  
Ms. Gunter  noted that the City Manager has said this program has helped the 
City overcome  a perception issue of no parking or inconvenient parking. It is the 
ease of use of parking they are trying to overcome with this proposal.  Ms. 
Champagne believed that might be a factor in encouraging people to come and 
do business in the City, along with filling the vacancies. 
 
Motion by Mr. Kalczynski 
Seconded by Ms. Honhart that  the Advisory Parking Committee 
recommends that the City Commission continue to the on-street valet 
program for a six month trial period post construction for a total cost of 
$36,000 with a $10,000 contribution from the Birmingham Shopping District 
and the remaining $26,000 to be drawn from the Parking Fund to support 
two (2) valet stands in downtown Birmingham and evaluate to success of 



Advisory Parking Committee Proceedings 
July11, 2018 
Page 5 of 6 
 
 
the program at the end of the six month period to consider establishing on- 
street valet as a permanent program. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas:  Kalcynski, Honhart, Champagne, Krueger, Paskiewicz, Vaitas 
Nays:  None 
Absent:  None 
 
Motion carried, 6-0. 
 
MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORTS  
 
It was noted that everything is consistent. 
 
 
MEETING OPEN FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA  
 
Ms. Honhart inquired how the parking is working on the southeast corner of 
Maple Rd. and Woodward Ave.  Ms. Gunter reported the City has sold 100 
permits at this point and Shift Digital bought at least half of those.  They have not 
yet started parking their employees there.  After the additional members are in 
the lot they can correct where the parking spots are not as obvious.  After that 
the additional 38 permits will be released.  As a result of selling these permits the 
wait list has pulled ahead from 2013 to 2015.  There is a sign at the entrance to 
the lot that reads "Permit Parking Only," and so far it has not been necessary to 
install electronic gate arms. The City has an 18 month lease that can be 
extended if the property owner does not have plans for development of the lot. 
 
Mr. Kalczynski noted that all of the construction has adversely affected the 
number of shoppers that would normally come.  Construction has not affected 
occupancy in the hotel but on the restaurant side revenues are down a little.   
 
Chairman Vaitas advised that the Lot #6 funding proposal was passed by the 
City Commission.  Ms. Gunter added that staff will be meeting this week with 
HRC relative to the number of spaces in the lot in order to make sure the City is 
following its own zoning rules. Ms. Honhart hoped that Michigan native plants 
would be incorporated into the plan.  Ms. Gunter went on to state that for the 
August meeting the Existing Conditions and Strategy Report will be presented 
with the recommendations from Nelson Nygaard.  That is set to go before the 
City Commission on August 13 with the APC recommendation. 
 
  
NEXT REGULARLY SCHEDULED MEETING   
 



Advisory Parking Committee Proceedings 
July11, 2018 
Page 6 of 6 
 
 
August 1, 2018 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
No further business being evident, the Chairman adjourned the meeting at  8:25 
a.m. 
 
 
       
City Engineer Paul O’Meara 
 
 
       
Assistant City Manager Tiffany Gunter   



 

1 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Office of the City Manager 
 
DATE:   October 3, 2018   
 
TO:   Advisory Parking Committee  
 
FROM:  Tiffany J. Gunter, Assistant City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Parking Plan Strategy – Final Draft for Review  

 
 
The Parking Plan recommendation report document is attached for Committee review and input.  
The plan is scheduled to be presented before the City Commission on October 8.   



[NAME OF DOCUMENT] | VOLUME 
 [Client Name] 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | i 

 

 

  

 

FINAL REPORT 
Downtown Parking Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | i 

 

Table of Contents 

 Page 

Executive Summary ..........................................................................................................................................1 

Project Summary ...............................................................................................................................................2 
Overview ......................................................................................................................................................2 
Scope of Study............................................................................................................................................2 

Existing Conditions ............................................................................................................................................3 
Downtown Context......................................................................................................................................3 
Prior Plan Review........................................................................................................................................4 
The Parking System ....................................................................................................................................5 
Stakeholder Engagement ..........................................................................................................................7 

Key Issues & Opportunities ............................................................................................................................8 
Commuter Access to Monthly Parking .....................................................................................................8 
Visitor Access to Short-Term Parking ......................................................................................................8 
Excess on-Street Capacity ........................................................................................................................8 
Data Collection & Analysis .......................................................................................................................9 
Operations & Management......................................................................................................................9 
Future Growth..............................................................................................................................................9 

Strategies & Recommendations ............................................................................................................... 10 
Strategies Overview ............................................................................................................................... 10 
Near-Term Priorities & Recommendations .......................................................................................... 11 
Immediate Action Steps .......................................................................................................................... 30 
Long-Term Considerations ...................................................................................................................... 32 

 

Table of Figures 

 Page 

Figure 1 Downtown Parking Supply .......................................................................................................6 
Figure 2 Sample Survey Results ............................................................................................................7 

Figure 3 uGO University Circle Resource Portal, Cleveland........................................................... 14 
Figure 4 On-street Employee Parking Opportunities ....................................................................... 17 

Figure 5 Seattle On-Street Parking Occupancy Report  .................................................................. 18 
Figure 6 Tiered Parking Rate Concept ............................................................................................... 19 
Figure 7 Branding + Color Scheme Guide Drivers to Right-Fit Parking....................................... 20 

Figure 8 San Diego’s Free Ride Everywhere Downtown “FRED” Circulator ............................... 21 

Figure 9 Downtown Birmingham Public Valet Locations  ............................................................... 22 

Figure 10 Peak Weekday Mid-day Parking Utilization....................................................................... 23 

 

Appendixes 

Appendix A: Existing Conditions Report 
Appendix B: Community Engagement Summary 
Appendix C: Potential Strategies Overview  
Appendix D: Implementation Guide 
Appendix E: Operator RFP Samples



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 1 

The City of Birmingham has successfully positioned its Central Business District to attract 

investment in a highly competitive environment. This includes provision and management of a 

comprehensive public parking system that emphasizes shared-use efficiencies to meet the 

growing parking needs of its thriving downtown. With recent downtown employment and 

residential growth and substantial mixed-use development either under construction or near 

ground-breaking, it is critical that the City continue to effectively allocate resources – including 

the public parking network – to serve existing and future downtown needs. 

The Downtown Parking Plan has been developed in support of the City of Birmingham’s goal to 

ensure the downtown parking system is being operated, managed and developed in accordance 

with professional and technological best practices. The planning process incorporated input from 

a variety of community stakeholders, as well as multiple City departments, and draws upon best 

practices in parking and demand management to develop proven solutions that work.  

The Plan outlines key findings from review of existing conditions and community feedback and 

outlines opportunities, strategies, and recommendations in support of the City ’s goals. Plan 

recommendations are summarized around a series of priority issues: 

 Ensuring commuter access to monthly parking 

 Improving visitor access to short-term parking 

 Taking advantage of excess on-street capacity 

 Capitalizing on data collection and analysis opportunities 

 Optimizing management & operations 

 Preparing for future growth 

Six  parking and access management objectives and affiliated strategies were used to guide 

recommendations and were summarized in full in the Potential Strategies Overview: 

 Redistribute Demand 

 Reduce Demand 

 Expand Capacities 

 Expand Supplies 

 Deploy Technologies 

 Optimize Management 

Recommendations focus on “quick wins,” near-term interventions, and long-term considerations. 

The Plan includes a summary of immediate action steps, as well as a comprehensive 

Implementation Guide that the City and its partners can use to affect positive change both now 

and into the future. Appendixes to the Plan provide additional detail on existing conditions, best 

practice strategies, the community engagement process, implementation steps, and peer city 

documents that respond to specific recommendations. 

The Birmingham Parking System is functioning at a high level today. The recommendations and 

action steps outlined in this plan will help to ensure that it continues to evolve with the growth of 

the Central Business District, utilizing local expertise and management best practices to meet the 

needs of the downtown area and its many stakeholders.  

 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 2 

OVERVIEW 

The Downtown Parking Plan has been developed in support of the City of Birmingham’s goal to 

ensure the downtown parking system is being operated, managed and developed in accordance 

with professional and technological best practices. The planning process incorporated input from 

a variety of community stakeholders, as well as multiple City departments. The following 

outcomes were sought by the City and guided plan development:   

 A realistic plan for more effective use of parking and better management of the parking 

sy stem in Birmingham’s Central Business District. 

 Plan findings that are based on credible information that can be communicated to the 

public and stakeholders. 

 Recommendations that will engender a parking system that contributes to a positive 

image of the City. 

 Recommendations that will support a parking system that deploys the latest technology 

to improve the user experience, while sustaining revenue to cover operations, ongoing 

capital improvements and system growth. 

The plan draws upon best practices in parking and demand management to develop proven 

solutions that work. The consulting team has worked closely with the City of Birmingham and its 

partners to understand and evaluate the downtown parking system and develop 

recommendations to achieve the outcomes listed above.  

SCOPE OF STUDY 

The Downtown Parking Plan included several key elements, including an assessment of existing 

conditions and development of strategies to guide recommendations and action steps. 

Stakeholder and community outreach efforts were conducted throughout the plan process, which 

will conclude with the presentation of this plan to the City Commission.  

Existing Conditions Assessment 

The Existing Conditions Assessment began with a review of the planning context in Birmingham, 

as well as identification, assembly, and review of all relevant and available data, reports, and 

studies related to parking and transportation programs in Birmingham. Findings were 

sy nthesized in the Existing Conditions Report, providing a clear overview of current conditions in 

the Central Business District. These included the following key points: 

 Parking demand has been steadily increasing, particularly for long-term/monthly 

parking, and has outpaced the addition of new parking supply. 

 At any time of day, at least half of the metered block segments are underutilized (<70%). 

 During the peak lunch period, each of the City’s five garages exceeds 90% utilization.  

 A significant number of parkers staying longer than 5 hours are not permit-holders. 

 The permit wait list is long, but many of these parkers are finding space within the 

sy stem, sometimes paying more to park and sometimes finding other opportunities.  



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 3 

Community Engagement 

Data alone does not tell the whole story of Birmingham’s parking challenges and opportunities. 

Input from residents, employees, customers, visitors, commuters, and others on day-to-day and 

seasonal issues provided a more complete understanding of the performance of the parking 

sy stem, today. In addition to recurring coordination meetings and two meetings with the City’s 

Advisory Parking Committee, the team conducted a survey of downtown businesses and 

employees, performed intercept surveys on downtown streets, attended a Birmingham Shopping 

District merchant meeting, and facilitated a public open house to solicit feedback on existing 

conditions and preliminary strategies. A Community Engagement Summary memo is included as 

an appendix to this report. 

Strategy Development  

Existing conditions, rate structures, regulations and practices, technology deployment, signage & 

way finding, and service/operations agreements were evaluated to develop a series of strategies 

informed by best practices in parking system management and operations. The Potential 

Strategies Overview memo summarized six parking and access management objectives and 

affiliated strategies designed to achieve them: 

 Redistribute Demand 

 Reduce Demand 

 Expand Capacities 

 Expand Supplies 

 Deploy Technologies 

 Optimize Management 

These objectives and strategies provide the framework for the recommendations and action steps 

for this Final Report. 

Presentation of Final Report 

This report presents a cohesive set of practicable, proven-effective strategies for the City of 

Birmingham, in coordination with their partners and key stakeholders, to guide the future 

performance of the downtown parking system, to address projected parking and travel demand, 

to enhance downtown mobility. This set of recommendations provides critical tools to address the 

parking challenges of today, and to respond to emerging and anticipated paradigm shifts in urban 

parking and mobility dynamics – offering significant resiliency for maintaining optimal 

downtown access to facilitate downtown’s evident and potential economic vitality.  

DOWNTOWN CONTEXT 

The City of Birmingham has successfully positioned its Central Business District to attract 

investment in a highly competitive environment. The City has prioritized good design, smart land 

use, and efficient coordination of infrastructure investments to foster a dense, walkable, mixed-

use downtown. A major component of this is a comprehensive, self-funded, and strategically-

managed public parking system that emphasizes shared-use efficiencies to reduce the amount of 

parking infrastructure required to keep downtown thriving.  



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 4 

Downtown Birmingham features a dynamic mix of housing, office space, retail, dining, 

entertainment, and civic attractions and amenities. It has a daytime population of almost 14,000. 

Approximately 300 unique national and local retail businesses operate among more than 1.5 

million square feet of retail space and 2 million square feet of office space. Birmingham’s nightlife 

and entertainment boasts nearly 50 restaurants and 20 movie screens at two theaters.  

This kind of success invariably brings challenges, particularly regarding parking and 

transportation. With more than 300,000 square feet of mixed-use development either under 

construction or near ground-breaking, it is critical that the City continue to effectively allocate 

resources – including the public parking network – to serve existing and future downtown needs.  

PRIOR PLAN REVIEW 

Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Plan (2013) 

Focusing primarily on active transportation measures, the Birmingham Multi-Modal 

Transportation Plan includes policy and design recommendations intended to reduce automobile 

dependency in the city. While some recommendations could have a secondary impact on parking, 

there are no policy, program, or design recommendations in the plan specifically intended to 

address or impact the downtown parking system.  

Network improvement recommendations that could impact the number or design of on-street 

spaces include the addition of curb extensions at a number of downtown intersections. In 

addition, the plan includes recommendations for increasing, and improving, the stock of 

contextually attractive and usable bicycle parking in the downtown. Key recommendations 

include the following: 

 Two bicycle racks should be placed on each proposed curb extension in the downtown  

 Bicycle racks should be covered whenever possible  

 Seasonal temporary bike racks should be placed in the downtown where appropriate 

(large curb extensions, adjacent to outdoor dining decks, etc.)  

 Provide temporary staffed bike racks during special events to encourage bicycling and 

provide a secure environment for bikes  

 Provide enclosed and secured parking in downtown parking decks  

 Provide amenities such as compressed air and basic public bike fix stations at key 

locations around town  

Downtown Birmingham 2016 Plan (1996) 

Key  findings include the following:  

 Parking decks are underutilized, and appear to be less desirable than surface parking 

 There are opportunities for additional on-street parking within existing pavement widths 

 The existing parking decks may be expandable 

 The parking deck directional signage system is less than effective 

Key  parking recommendations include the following: 

 Restripe the curb space to maximize potential capacity of existing city-owned space 

 Continue 2-hours free parking in parking decks 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 5 

 Keep meters outside of the CBD at lower rates than those within the CBD 

 Expand metered time to 1 .5 hours in the CBD, and 3 hours in other shopping areas 

 If an observable need arises, pursue the potential for expanding the existing decks 

 Implement a signage program to guide parkers to parking decks 

THE PARKING SYSTEM 

Birmingham’s downtown parking system consists of roughly 4,944 publicly-owned spaces, of 

which 3,423 are contained in five (5) public parking structures, 1,272 are metered, on-street, and 

391 are contained in five (5) surface parking lots. Two private, independently run, parking 

structures are also located in the CBD and additional private parking lots are used by the City on a 

temporary basis to expand supply and meet pressing demand from permit parkers. 

The parking structures are operated by SP+, with oversight by the City Manager’s Office. On-

street parking meters are managed and enforced by the Birmingham Police Department. The 

overall system is overseen by the City Manager’s Office, while a 9-member Advisory Parking 

Committee meets regularly to address parking issues and advise the City Commission. 

The parking system is financed through an Enterprise Fund, which captures all parking revenue, 

with the exception of citation revenues, which go to the City’s General Fund. The Enterprise Fund 

provides for cost recovery for day-to-day expenses, such as maintenance and operations, as well 

as capital investments that benefit the system on a long-term basis. Recent upgrades to system 

infrastructure include new traffic control equipment and Smart Meters throughout the CBD, 

which provide more payment options, real-time information, and operational efficiencies for both 

users and the City. New gate technology and signage have been added at all City garages to assist 

with real-time information and ease of ingress/egress. 

Parking demand has been steadily increasing, particularly for long-term/monthly parking, largely 

due to increased demand from downtown employers and employees and a growing number of 

mixed-use developments that have added more built space to the downtown market. The recent 

trend in “open office” workspace configurations, which situate more employees in less building 

space, has accelerated the increase in parking demand at a pace that has exceeded the provision of 

new places to park. To manage this increased demand, the City has invested in public valet 

services, leased private facilities to manage a public parking, and initiated a real-time information 

sy stem to direct drivers to available parking options. The City has also adjusted permit and meter 

rates and is continually evaluating the technology, operations, and regulations in the parking 

sy stem to ensure optimal system function and user experience.  

The Existing Conditions Report provides a comprehensive review of parking supply and 

utilization, management, operations, signage, and expected changes.  

 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 6 

Figure 1 Downtown Parking Supply 

 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 7 

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 

The planning process included multiple layers of stakeholder engagement over several months. 

These included the following:   

 Advisory Parking Committee Meetings (2) 

 Online Business District Survey  

 Face-to-face Intercept Surveys 

 Birmingham Shopping District Merchant Meeting 

 Public Open House 

Through these engagement initiatives, over 450 local business owners, property owners, 

employees, residents, and v isitors were able to provide their input on existing parking conditions 

challenges and opportunities. Key inputs from this process included: 

 Nearly 75% of respondents park in a public parking deck downtown on a daily basis. 

 Employers fully cover 54% of respondents’ parking costs, either through validation (15%) 

or providing a permit (39%); around 37% are responsible for their own parking costs. 

 62% of respondents rated Birmingham’s Parking System as either “poor” or “very poor.”  

 The free, 2-hour parking in public parking decks is the most popular feature of the 

downtown parking system; the time/cost of on-street parking received the lowest ratings. 

 Parkers can usually find parking within 1-3 blocks of their destination in under 10 

minutes; the proximity is favorable, but the search time is not. 

 Drivers are aware of parking cost disparities (between permit holders and non-permit 

holders) and feel that the difference needs to be addressed. 

 Additional short-term curbside parking is needed in key locations to serve important 

pick-up/drop-off functions. 

A Community Engagement Summary memo is included as an appendix to this report and 

provides more detail on the outreach efforts and feedback received. 

Figure 2 Sample Survey Results 

 
1 = Very Poor, 3 = Satisfactory, 5 = Very Good

2.1

2.2

1.8

2.8

2.5

3.7

0.0 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5 3.0 3.5 4.0

TIME IT TAKES TO FIND A PARKING SPACE

THE AMOUNT OF TURNOVER OF ON-STREET PARKING

THE TIME/COST OF METERED PARKING

ON-STREET SIGNAGE

DESIGN AND CIRCULATION WITHIN PARKING …

FREE 2 HOUR PARKING IN PARKING …

How Would You Rate the Following Parking Features (1-5 Scale)?



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 8 

COMMUTER ACCESS TO MONTHLY PARKING 

Commuter parking demand has risen steeply over the past several years, leading to parking 

garages that are regularly at or near-capacity during the mid-day peak and a permit wait list of 

around 3,000 parkers. At the same time, many of these parkers are finding space within the 

existing system, parking either in garages or on-street while they remain on the wait list. Several 

measures are already in play in Birmingham and additional recommendations will be highlighted 

in the following areas: 

 Selling more permits in select City garages 

 Defining a performance-based pricing approach 

 Adjusting parking rates to reflect demand patterns across downtown 

 Transitioning monthly permits to a daily pricing structure 

 Refining the rooftop and public valet programs  

 Expanding employee parking options 

 Providing and promoting commuter benefits 

VISITOR ACCESS TO SHORT-TERM PARKING 

Convenient, consistently available visitor parking is critical to the health of the Birmingham 

Shopping District. The on-street meters provided throughout the central business district and the 

short-term parking spaces available in each parking deck constitute ample supply, but availability 

is still perceived to be an issue. Recommendations in the following areas can help improve real 

and perceived short-term parking availability in downtown Birmingham: 

 Adjust parking rates to reflect demand patterns across downtown 

 Ensuring that all drivers know all their options 

 Optimizing “Park Once” efficiencies 

 Refining the public valet program 

 Expanding mobile payment options to the parking structures 

EXCESS ON-STREET CAPACITY 

A significant number of on-street spaces remains available, even during mid-day and evening 

peak-demand periods, often in contrast to at-capacity utilization of nearby off-street facilities. 

This suggests that the current pricing cues – which apply a fee to the on-street spaces, but not to 

spaces in neighboring garages – are intensifying the supply constraints noted in some key 

downtown garages. Recommendations that capitalize on the opportunity to reset these cues in the 

decks and on some on-street blocks to support the City’s goals include: 

 Reducing short-term parking set-asides in City garages 

 Accommodating short-term parkers with convenient, low cost on-street parking options 

 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 9 

DATA COLLECTION & ANALYSIS 

A series of recent investments in new gate and meter equipment has positioned the City to collect 

a robust data set that can be used to monitor parking system utilization and parking behavior. 

Making the most of these technologies and continually investing in upgrades will help 

Birmingham capitalize on opportunities to improve parking system function and efficiency, 

including the following key strategies: 

 Utilizing data collection capacity to support performance-based management 

 Investing in License Plate Recognition (LPR) equipment  

 Upgrading parking transaction & management software 

OPERATIONS & MANAGEMENT 

Effective operations and management across various City departments and their contractors has 

y ielded a high-performing and revenue-positive parking system that handles a high volume of 

activity on a daily basis. However, the opportunity exists to further optimize, streamline, and 

coordinate management, while promoting an efficient and customer-friendly approach to parking 

sy stem. Recommendations will be outlined in the following areas: 

 Soliciting competitive bids for Operator services 

 Establishing a Parking Ambassador Program 

 Refining the Parking Assessment District  

FUTURE GROWTH  

Downtown Birmingham is expected see over 300,000 sq. ft. in new development in the near 

future. These developments include lodging/hospitality, residential, and mixed-use commercial 

buildings. Additional development in the central business district and other nearby growth 

districts stands to add more demands on Birmingham’s access and parking network. The City and 

its partners can address future growth pressures through a series of strategic approaches, 

including, but not limited to:  

 Updating the City’s Zoning Code 

 Investing parking revenues in public improvements, beyond parking 

 Pursuit of joint development opportunities. 

 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 10 

STRATEGIES OVERVIEW 

The Potential Strategies Overview is provided as an appendix to this report and summarized a 

series of parking and access management strategies that should be considered for implementation 

in Birmingham. The following six (6) parking and access management objectives and affiliated 

strategies provide the framework for the recommendations in the remainder of this section.  

Redistribute Demand  

 Take a Performance-Based Management approach to ensuring space availability. 

 Expand employee parking options. 

 Ensure drivers know their options. 

Reduce Demand  

 Optimize “Park Once” efficiencies.  

 Provide circulator and shuttle options. 

 Improve pedestrian and bicycle network infrastructure. 

 Provide commuter benefits. 

 Transition monthly permits to a daily pricing structure. 

Expand Capacities 

 Continue to refine Public Valet approach for both v isitors and commuters.  

 Expand Mobile Payment Options to the Parking Structures. 

 Vary regulations to balance parking and loading needs at the curb. 

 Allocate curbside space for higher-capacity forms of parking. 

 Use pay-by-phone options to encourage off-hour shared parking.   

Expand Supplies 

 Develop “Park Once” zoning strategies. 

 Refine the Assessment District Fee Approach. 

 Continue to refine Joint-Development approach. 

Deploy Technologies 

 Utilize License Plate Recognition (LPR) equipment. 

 Upgrade parking management and transaction software. 

 Support Electric Vehicle Network Infrastructure. 

Optimize Management 

 Invest parking revenues in public improvements, beyond parking. 

 Solicit Competitive Bids for Operator Services. 

 Establish a Parking Ambassador Program. 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 11 

NEAR-TERM PRIORITIES & RECOMMENDATIONS 

The following section summarizes a series of near-term priorities that align with the Key Issues & 

Opportunities outlined in the previous section. Strategies, recommendations, and potential “quick 

wins” are identified for each priority area to address challenges  and opportunities. Longer-term 

considerations are provided at the end of each priority area. 

Ensure Commuter Access to Monthly Parking 

Based on the existing permit wait list of approximately 3,000 parkers and utilization rates that 

consistently exceed 90% during peak mid-day periods, it is clear that adjustments are warranted 

in how Birmingham addresses commuter parking demand. Further, the significant share of 5+ 

hour parking activity that is linked to non-permit-holders (roughly 30% at all five garages) 

confirms that it is common for employees to use validation or pay the full-day rate in lieu of a 

monthly permit. These conditions also confirm that:   

 These parkers (or their employers) are paying a higher daily rate to park than permit-

holders, suggesting acceptance of higher permit rates than those currently offered. 

 Providing more permits will not likely result in higher utilization levels (or reduced 

availability) if such permits are provided to commuters who may already using these 

garages for full day parking.  

 These are important factors in determining the appropriate “oversell” rate for permits. 

The following strategies and recommendations are designed to address these conditions.  

Sell more permits in select City garages.  

Permit sales for City garages are restricted when occupancy measures consistently approach 

capacity, resulting in wait lists for commuters and employers seeking the combination of 

convenience, cost-savings, and consistency that permits offer when compared to daily parking 

options. However, as the above summary indicates, parking duration data suggests that a 

significant portion of parked cars in most City garages on a daily basis are parked by commuters 

who are either paying the daily rate, or having their daily parking validated by  their employer.  

Quick Win: Offer permits to the first 10 people on the wait list for the Pierce, and Peabody 
garages, which have the highest portion of non-permit vehicles staying longer than 5 hours.  

The Pierce (44%) and Peabody (39%) garages had the highest portion of non-permit parkers 

staying between five and twelve hours in the months of October 2017 and January 2018. This was 

an average of 165 parkers on a daily basis in the Pierce garage and between 90 – 100 per day in 

the Peabody garage. The City should continue to monitor conditions in these and other City decks 

and issue more permits every three months, expanding to other garages as conditions warrant.  

Define a Performance-Based Pricing approach. 

Throughout its on- and off-street parking network, Birmingham can use parking rates to achieve a 

singular objective: maintaining availability, across the downtown, so that drivers can choose the 

parking location that best suits their relative cost/ convenience priorities. Space availability, at the 

block-face level for on-street parking and at the facility level for off-street, becomes the central 

“key performance indicator” (KPI) that informs rate decisions, as well as most other management 

and regulatory actions.  



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 12 

For garages, availability for short-term and long-term parkers can be measured and tracked 

separately, but the primary measure for the facility should be availability among all spaces (which 

should inform how much inventory is set aside for either group).  

The benefits of such an approach go beyond transparency to improve the parking experience by 

reducing time and energy spent in search of available spaces and reducing perceptions that 

downtown lacks sufficient parking supply.  

Quick Win: Adopt a policy linking parking rates to demand and establish availability as the Key 
Performance Indicator (KPI) that will be monitored to inform changes to rates and regulations. 

The City should continue to work with SP+ to monitor parking utilization and permit wait lists for 

their garages and lots, establishing a solid base of KPI data to inform the policy and decision-

making process. Sample utilization ranges, such as those listed below, are based on optimal 

targets for three types of parking, based distinct user perceptions and expectations for each. 

Generally, on-street locations need to present more obvious availability, as drivers have fewer 

options to navigate back toward a missed empty space. Similarly, those seeking long-term parking 

in off-street facilities generally tend to be more familiar with the facility, and thus more patient in 

seeking out a space when availability is less obvious.  

 On-street parking: 10-20% of spaces are available, or a few spaces on each block-face. 

 Off-street, hourly parking: 10-15% of spaces are available 

 Off-street, long-term parking: 5-10% of spaces are available, with no permit wait list 

These ranges will make clear when KPIs are sufficiently off their target to warrant management 

changes, such as changes in rates. 

Adjust parking rates to reflect demand patterns across downtown. 

The current situation, with wait lists limiting access to monthly permits, despite demonstrated 

capacity to accommodate long-term parking well beyond demand generated by current permit 

holders, results in many downtown employees and employers paying much more for parking than 

the established permit rate. Data indicates that nearly one-third of non-permit parkers in all 

garages are paying several times the permit rate to access downtown jobs. Selling more permits 

for these garages, through the incremental approach outlined above, is a critical first step in 

addressing this issue. Raising the rates at the most constrained garages is another.  

Quick Win: Raise permit rates at the Chester, Park, and N. Old Woodward garages and monitor 
results to determine if more permits can be issued, or if further rate increases are warranted.  

These three garages consistently exhibit peak mid-day utilization in excess of 95% and have the 

highest portion of parkers staying between five and twelve hours who hold parking permits and 

pay  a monthly rate. Raising monthly rates in these garages will reduce the cost disparity between 

what downtown employees with permits, and those without, must pay for the parking they need 

to maintain employment in downtown Birmingham. 

Increasing permit rates across all garages, gradually approaching a rate that is more reflective of 

the daily rate currently paid by many commuters or their employers, will help balance future 

parking supply and demand.  

Options that promote reduced parking demand should also be considered as a way of 

incentivizing non-drive-alone trips and reducing parking demand. 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 13 

Quick Win: Offer discounted permit rates for carpools and vanpools and “flex” permits that 
allow for a limited number of uses each month.  

These options will communicate to commuters with pricing cues that these are desired behaviors 

that can be used on a regular or occasional basis. They represent early, “low hanging fruit” options 

that can lay the foundation for more robust demand management strategies in the future. 

Another, more progressive, option – daily parking permits – is discussed further in the following 

section. 

In the near-term, the City should continue to monitor utilization and review rates annually to 

determine if additional adjustments are warranted, raising or lowering rates to address any 

meaningful gaps between targeted and actual availability. Additional steps (highlighted later in 

this report) can be taken to improving permit management systems for increased efficiency and 

accuracy. Ensuring transparency will also be important to public understanding and support and 

can be achieved by regularly publishing data, findings, and any subsequent management/pricing 

adjustments in an annual report.1  

Transition monthly permits to a daily pricing structure. 

People are more sensitive to small recurring fees and charges than larger and less-frequent ones. 

Once an employee purchases a monthly permit, that individual typically ceases to consider 

driving alternatives because the permit has become a “sunk-cost” investment. Such permits 

actually create an incentive to drive to work as frequently as possible in order to take advantage of 

the investment. By contrast, a daily rate can be facilitated through payroll or by issuing a 

commuter card that can be structured as a “draw-down” account, creating an incentive to use 

other modes when those are most feasible, thereby saving the daily rate cost. This can reduce 

commuter parking demand on days when walking, cycling, and transit are most appealing – such 

as nice-weather days, which can free up garage spaces for additional permit parkers or visitors.  

Birmingham’s IN Card and other employer issued validation cards can be used to facilitate this 

approach, accommodating parkers who are either on the permit waiting list or who would be 

amenable to a more flexible option that rewards them (through cost savings) for not parking.  As 

monthly-permit rates approach parity with the cumulative cost of paying daily for parking, the 

flexibility of the daily option can be promoted as an option that provides flexibility for those who 

work part-time, or who might combine driving with alternative modes throughout the month.  

In the near-term, the City should work to establish a Performance-Based Pricing approach with an 

ey e on the daily permit pricing option as a potential “next step” that can be pursued in line with 

the gradual increase in permit rates. A “pilot” or “trial” period could be explored with a number of 

interested employers who currently need more permits and are willing to participate in a 

constructive effort to uncover new solutions. The pilot period can offer insights into fine -tuning 

the program before it is rolled out more extensively. This approach can be promoted as a way to 

relieve some of the cost burden of the price increase, coupled with other commuter benefit 

options, to be discussed in the following section. 

                                                             

1 Case Study example: www.seattle.gov/transportation/document-library/reports-and-studies 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 14 

Provide & Promote Commuter Benefits 

Within any given downtown, there are drive-alone commuters who would consider adopting 

alternative modes, given sufficient incentives or provided means around barriers to options like 

walking, cycling, transit, and ridesharing.  

The City should work with its partners to establish a commuter facing transportation resource 

portal to inform local businesses and employees about parking and mobility options. The portal 

would optimally have an online presence, hosted by an existing agency, but could offer a 

commuter resource “hub” at City Hall where both employers and employees can talk with a 

resource manager or collect information for personal use or to distribute within their workplace. 

Quick Win: Work with the Birmingham Shopping District and the Southeast Michigan Council 
of Governments (SEMCOG) to create a “welcome” package for new and existing employees that 
outlines the commuter benefits already available to them. 

The package would include information on existing programs, like transit benefits, guaranteed 

ride home, and rideshare ride matching services, and make the case for non-drive-alone 

commutes in both financial, environmental, and quality of life terms. Distribution could start with 

human resource managers at local workplaces and be available at City offices where parking 

permits and other transportation resources are available.   

Figure 3 uGO University Circle Resource Portal, Cleveland 

 
Image: www.uGOinthecircle.com  

Long-term, the City, SEMCOG, and individual employers can work together to develop more 

robust programs and benefits for their employees. Opportunities include subsidized transit 

passes, a vanpool program, and “cash out” benefits for non-drive-alone trips. A comprehensive 

program and promotion effort could include a dedicated “transportation manager” who 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 15 

coordinates and markets program offerings across workplaces, develops and manages new 

programs with service providers, and monitors program success. 

Continue to refine the Rooftop and Public Valet programs.  

The City’s rooftop and public valet programs both address a particular subset of parking demand 

in the short-term and long-term parking markets. While the rooftop valet program at the parking 

structures is currently underutilized, it is providing a valuable service by reducing the need for 

garage closures when at or near capacity. The City should explore options to optimize this service 

to increase use by commuters, including use of mobile technologies, relocating drop-off locations, 

or combining efforts with the on-street public valet. In both cases, collecting additional data from 

valet operators on use of these services will help the City and its partners make continuous 

improvements to the offerings for both commuters and v isitors. 

Quick Win: Work with the current valet operator and existing City vendors, including SP+ and 
ParkMobile, to add mobile functionality to the valet program and increase data capture on use 
and program costs.  

Several parking operators offer proprietary applications that can support these types of customer 

conveniences, which can improve the efficiency of the valet program by allowing valet patrons to 

schedule their cars’ return.  ParkMobile, the City’s mobile payment vendor, already provides valet 

features in other markets. If the current vendors cannot meet this objective, the City should 

consider incorporating this as a part of a future valet or parking operator solicitation.  

In the near-term, City  staff should continue to review the on-street public valet as it relates to use 

by  long-term and permit parkers. While this service was not established with those parkers in 

mind, there may be an opportunity to meet some of the need for additional capacity in garages by 

offering a more convenient valet option than is currently provided in the rooftop program. 

To further support the rooftop program, the City can look for locations where the valet drop-off 

and pick-up can happen on the ground floor. By relocating the valet to the lower level of the 

garage, drivers would be able to more quickly drop off and pick up their vehicle, which addresses 

one of the main complaints about the existing program.  

The pricing should also reflect the increased convenience and cost to the City. In the case of the 

on-street, public valet being used by long-term parkers, a competitive rate analysis should be 

conducted quarterly to ensure the valet program is priced at a market rate and that the City is not 

subsidizing it in a way that is unsustainable or overly burdensome to the public. Structuring the 

rates for the valet services should – at a minimum – sustain the cost of the operation. These rates 

should be reviewed quarterly or annually, along with the utilization rates, to ensure that the 

program is providing adequate benefits and financial gain/loss remains neutral. 

Expand employee parking options. 

Building off of the above section, there are several opportunities to create additional capacity for 

long-term, employee parking in downtown Birmingham. One area where capacity is limited and 

utilization consistently exceeds 90% during the mid-day peak is at the north end of Old 

Woodward, around Lot 6. The City is already planning an expansion of that facility that will add 

34 spaces to the lot, but additional capacity is still needed. 

One option is to consider in line with the lot expansion is a redesign that would remove the single-

space meters from a portion of the lot and demarcate separate areas for permit and short-term 

parking. In the permit parking areas, a pay station or gate can be installed to limit access, coupled 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 16 

with a valet assist program that can instituted during peak periods to more efficiently “stack” cars 

into the limited space. 

Nearby, another option is to look for opportunities on adjacent residential parking permit (RPP) 

streets where selective and strategic monthly permits can be issued. To ensure that residential 

access is maintained, the City should seek blocks with an average availability of at least 25% 

during hours when employee permits can be used. Careful monitoring and enforcement of these 

expansion zones will be critical to successful implementation.  

These opportunities, as well as others to expand monthly permit issuance at on-street locations, 

exist in various zones throughout the downtown area.  

In the near-term, the City should look for opportunities to pilot the following approaches to 

expanding on-street capacity for monthly permit parkers: 

 Institute a program in residential permit parking (RPP) blocks, with permits limited to 

day time parking when resident parking demand is modest. 

 Add on-street permits in underutilized metered blocks, such as has been initiated at the 

south end of Old Woodward. 

 Examine on-street permit options on blocks that are not currently metered or included in 

RPP districts, including those on the southwest edge of downtown. 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 17 

Figure 4 On-street Employee Parking Opportunities 

 

Additional off-street opportunities have been elusive, but opportunities may arise over time that 

enable the City to broker shared parking agreements with private property owners who have 

excess capacity. The temporary lot lease (Lot 12) just east of the study area is a good example of a 

successful effort to add 156 permit spaces in the near-term. In the case of more remote parking 

opportunities, which have also been elusive, the City can offer a reduced rate and last-mile 

connections v ia commuter shuttle service, which will be discussed further in the following section. 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 18 

Improve Visitor Access to Short-term Parking 

Adjust parking rates to reflect demand patterns across downtown. 

The City currently has only two on-street parking rates ($1 and $1.50 per hour), which limits the 

ability of pricing to influence the distribution of parking demand. Following the methodology 

described in the previous section, which uses availability as the key performance indicator (KPI), 

Birmingham should increase the gaps between on-street parking rates, and clearly communicate 

where the most- and least-expensive parking is located.  

Quick Win: Establish a third pricing tier and create a “premium rate” area where utilization is 
consistently highest to facilitate a shift in parking activity to areas of consistent availability. 

Pricing in this area may only be modestly higher than in the other two areas, but with three tiers, 

parkers who are knowledgeable about the pricing scheme and the consistent availability on lower-

priced blocks will begin to opt for the ease and cost savings of parking in those areas. This stands 

to increase availability in the core and reduce the incidence of cars circling for parking in the 

center of the downtown Birmingham, when parking is available just one or two blocks away.  

Quick Win: Make some currently-metered on-street parking free during hours where capacity is 
constrained elsewhere in the system, to attract parkers and free up capacity elsewhere.  

In the near-term, in line with the recommendations in the monthly permit section, the City should 

continue to monitor utilization and review rates annually (at a minimum) to determine if 

additional adjustments are warranted, raising or lowering rates to address any meaningful gaps 

between targeted and actual availability. Again, ensuring transparency will also be important to 

public understanding and support and can be achieved by regularly publishing data, findings, and 

any  subsequent management/pricing adjustments in an annual report.  

Figure 5 Seattle On-Street Parking Occupancy Report 

    

Image: Seattle Department of Transportation 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 19 

Figure 6 Tiered Parking Rate Concept 

 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 20 

Ensure that all drivers know all their options.  

Visitors are particularly dependent upon information, signage, and wayfinding to understand the 

full set of parking options available to them, but all users benefit from improvements to delivery 

and accuracy of information. The City already addresses several aspects of this well, including 

providing real-time garage availability information (both online and at the facility) and directing 

parkers to public valet locations. However, there are gaps in the provision of broader parking 

network information that can be addressed. 

Quick Win: Implement a comprehensive communications strategy to ensure that drivers know 
the difference in on-street parking rates and where to find the right-fit combination of 
convenience and cost for their downtown visit.  

The importance of signage and other public outreach in communicating the difference between 

parking zones and rates will increase with the implementation of performance-based 

management. This should be addressed as part of a comprehensive approach to increasing driver 

awareness of options, pricing, and regulations. 

Branding with easily discernable information has been used effectively to help v isitors understand 

and find key parking options, including free 2-hour parking in garages and the public valet service 

put into place while key downtown blocks are closed for construction. Building off these efforts, 

the City can work to develop a cohesive parking “brand” and information system, accessible 

online, via mobile device, and in the field, to enhance user understanding of parking options. A 

successful program will:  

 Guide Visitors to “right fit” parking 

 Improve predictability, reduce confusion and improve customer experience 

 Redistribute demand to underutilized facilities 

 Support performance-based management 

 Help “brand” downtown Birmingham 

 Improve aesthetics and streetscape 

In the near-term, the City should work to align citywide planning and wayfinding efforts, building 

upon this work to create a cohesive sign program that creates clear and concise information to 

parkers. Using a color scheme to clearly mark premium-, base-, and reduced-rate parking 

locations – both on maps and via on-site signage – can support a performance-based pricing 

program. Similar efforts could be used to identify spaces in City garages or off-peak access to 

permit lots. 

Figure 7 Branding + Color Scheme Guide Drivers to Right-Fit Parking  

 

Image: Downtown Sacramento Partnership 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 21 

Optimize “Park Once” efficiencies. 

Birmingham’s downtown parking system supports Park Once efficiencies, as most parking 

options allow drivers to leave their cars in place while they walk around downtown. By  allowing 

drivers to leave their cars in place until they are ready to return home, and promoting area 

walkability, Park Once can convert potential, excess auto traffic into sidewalk vitality and active 

public spaces. From a parking demand perspective, it can significantly reduce parking supply 

needs, as drivers require fewer spaces to get to more downtown destinations.  

To further enhance these conditions in downtown Birmingham, the City and its partners should 

continue to pursue opportunities for bicycle and pedestrian network improvements, as it is doing 

with the addition of bike parking options and pedestrian safety measures throughout the area.  

In the near-term, the City should also look to add a downtown circulator to further connect various 

destinations in central business district and beyond. This opportunity was popular during 

community outreach across all audiences, with multiple employers expressing a willingness to 

support such a service. A circulator could serve multiple audiences in downtown Birmingham, 

beginning with visitors and extending to residents and daily commuters, by providing frequent 

and convenient connections throughout the downtown area. The same vehicles that can be used 

during mid-day and evening hours to provide local circulation for visitors, shoppers, and 

residents can be re-purposed during peak commuter hours to fill “first mile/last mile” gaps from 

remote parking facilities or transit services, making those options more attractive and practical 

for commuters.  

These essential Park Once services can also communicate the downtown brand and make use of 

emerging electric and autonomous vehicle technologies. Several operators base revenues entirely  

on sponsorship and advertising sales, enabling them to offer the service free of charge to 

passengers. 

Figure 8 San Diego’s Free Ride Everywhere Downtown “FRED” Circulator   

  

Image: Downtown San Diego Partnership 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 22 

Continue to refine Public Valet approach.  

The City recently committed to extending two public on-street valet locations beyond the Old 

Woodward construction period, due to popularity and customer demand. Birmingham staff 

should continue to review the on-street public valet for usefulness with input from parkers and 

the Birmingham Shopping District (BSD) and continue to work with the BSD and local merchants 

to expand marketing and outreach and pursue cost-sharing opportunities.  

In the near-term, in addition to the valet recommendations in the commuter parking section, the 

City  should pursue visitor valet opportunities in the Lot 6 areas, where there is a clear desire from 

merchants to expand the valet service to their district. This could improve parking options for 

both shoppers and employees in the v icinity. This will continue to be a challenging prospect for 

immediate implementation, as there is no proximate location for valet car storage, but the options 

highlighted in the previous section may also yield opportunities to extend valet service to visitors.  

Figure 9 Downtown Birmingham Public Valet Locations   

 

Image: City of Birmingham 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 23 

Expand Mobile Payment Options to the Parking Structures. 

Pay ment options for short-term parkers in the City’s garages are currently limited to a credit card 

or IN Card. Community feedback indicated a desire for more options, both to increase payment 

flexibility and to reduce delays at parking entrance and exit. ParkMobile payments at the City’s 

smart meters account for approximately 25% of transactions, suggesting that this popular option 

could be readily adopted by off-street parkers as well. 

In the near-term, the City should explore options for either expanding their current ParkMobile 

contract or soliciting other vendors to allow mobile payment in the garages. Providing parkers 

with the option to pay for parking using their phone will help mitigate congestion at the exit gates, 

much of which is the result of delays caused by parkers who are using credit or IN Cards. 

ParkMobile and other vendors also offer “digital wallets,” which can allow employers to pre-load 

funds into individual accounts. These mobile options can also enable after-hours payment for 

v isitor use of permit lots, which can offset evening and weekend capacity issues in key areas. 

In addition to ParkMobile, there are several Bluetooth mobile solutions that can be adapted to 

existing SKIDATA PARCS infrastructure for minimal cost that will allow parkers to access the 

garage or “vend the gate” using a pre-established wallet or account, akin to having a virtual IN 

Card. Several PARCS vendors are offering Bluetooth solutions. In most cases, the City would need 

to update the garage technology. However, one company (inugo) has successfully implemented an 

adaptive solution utilizing existing infrastructure. They install Bluetooth technology ($1,000 per 

gate set up; $1.00 per space per month for the back office) that allows visitors and permit holders 

to use their cell phone to access the garage, in most cases, hands-free.  

Take Advantage of Excess On-street Capacity 

In aggregate, on-street supplies maintain significant excess capacity (<85% occupied) throughout 

weekday peaks and into the evenings. Much of this underutilized capacity is concentrated in areas 

around City garages that are, by contrast, at capacity much of the day. Current pricing cues – 

which apply a fee to the on-street spaces, but offer free 2-hour parking in nearby garages – are 

intensifying the supply constraints noted in some key downtown facilities, as well as one of the 

primary parking issues noted in this study – the lack of capacity to accommodate downtown 

employment growth v ia permits to City garages.  

Figure 10 Peak Weekday Mid-day Parking Utilization 

  



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 24 

In line with the recommendations in the previous sections to improve access for monthly and 

daily parkers, there is an opportunity to shift parking from decks that are experiencing capacity 

constraints to on-street spaces, and within the on-street system to spaces that are currently 

under-utilized. 

Reduce short-term parking set-asides in City garages. 

Quick Win: Reduce the number of spaces held for short-term parkers in select garages, shifting 
a modest amount of short-term parking demand into street spaces and freeing up spaces for 
additional permit parkers. 

Two garages – Chester and Pierce – offer opportunities for this transition. Chester is already most 

heavily used by parkers staying 5 hours or more, with only 15% of parkers staying 2 hours or less. 

It is also slightly less proximate to downtown’s primary visitor core. That said, there are currently 

only 42 spaces marked for short-term (<3-hour) parking, so the opportunity is not substantial. 

These spaces are also frequently used by visitors to the adjacent Baldwin House and Public 

Library. Coupled with the prior recommendation to expand on-street parking options in the 

v icinity and promote “right fit” options for visitors, there are multiple options to add capacity in 

this area to meet the needs of all users. 

The Pierce garage, on the other hand, is the only garage with consistent availability (15% - 25%) 

during weekday daytime hours. Pierce is popular with short-term parkers, with more than 40% of 

current use by parkers staying less than 2 hours. So, a careful strategy – including proactive 

marketing/outreach to v isitors who typically use this deck – should be examined in order to 

decipher where displaced short-term parkers would be directed, whether alternate garage 

locations or on-street spaces. 

Continue to provide short-term parkers with convenient, low-cost parking options 

Quick Win: Make some currently-metered on-street parking free to provide a competitive 
alternative to free parking in City garages that lack capacity to offer monthly permits.  

To address the priority of accommodating more permit parkers in the City’s garages, steps can be 

taken to shift a portion of the short-term parkers to existing on-street meters during peak periods, 

thereby alleviating some of the excess demand on existing decks. Reducing the number of spaces 

held for short-term parkers in City garages, limiting the free 2-hour parking offering during peak 

periods (or in select garages), and offering lower-cost on-street parking options to short-term 

parkers will help facilitate this shift with pricing cues. Promoting free on-street parking in 

strategic locations will be an important counter-measure to ensure that short-term parkers are 

still provided with ample opportunities for convenient, low-cost downtown parking. 

Capitalize on Data Collection & Analysis Opportunities 

Data is currently collected through both automated and manual counts in Birmingham’s five 

public parking garages. The City’s parking Operator, SP+ , provides regular reports on system 

performance to City staff and the Advisory Parking Committee. SKIDATA gate equipment data is  

continually monitored by SP+ and issues are addressed as they arise. However, the limitations in 

what this equipment can collect and provide impairs the City’s ability to most effectively evaluate 

and adjust system operations. On-street, the City’s recent investment in CivicSmart meters has 

provided new flexibility in payment options for customers, but the data collection opportunities 

have yet to be fully realized.   



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 25 

Utilize data collection capacity to support performance-based management 

The Civ icSmart meters collect transaction data, which can be used as a proxy to measure 

utilization of the City’s on-street parking, but the greater opportunity is to use the vehicle 

detection sensors to collect and communicate occupancy to both management personnel at the 

Police Department, and potentially, to communicate space availability to drivers. This 

functionality can improve time zone enforcement and provide an anti-feed function to facilitate 

turnover, as well as supplying an ongoing record of utilization throughout downtown. The City 

should be deliberate about communicating these functions to the public, positioning the changes 

as improvements to parking space availability and not as opportunities to increase revenues 

Quick Win: Utilize parking meter vehicle detection sensors to begin collecting comprehensive 
data on parking meter utilization in support of a performance-based management approach to 
parking pricing and regulations. 

If the sensor accuracy is still not meeting expectations, the City should continue to work with their 

vendor to optimize and test the equipment until it performs at optimal levels. In the meantime, 

the City can continue to evaluate transaction data or manually count on-street utilization on a 

regular schedule to begin to establish a more consistent and comprehensive record of capacity 

and use throughout the entire downtown. 

Invest in License Plate Recognition (LPR) equipment. 

License Plate Recognition (LPR) technology offers opportunities to improve both parking facility 

operations and parking regulation enforcement. Fixed mount LPR equipment at garage access 

points can improve ingress/egress and shorten queuing issues at peak times, while also 

facilitating programs that monitor “performance,” including tracking utilization during times of 

peak demand. This equipment could also help prevent parkers from misusing the two-hour free 

parking period offered in City garages.  

In support of a performance-focused enforcement approach, mobile LPR devices can 

sy stematically collect “occupancy” data, via plate “reads” in facilities and on blocks where 

availability is most likely to be constrained. This provides a valuable source of data that can be 

matched utilization/availability of parking supply.  

In the near-term, the City should consider a turnkey solicitation that incorporates operations 

services and parking technology support that would integrate with their existing SKIDATA 

equipment, garage security equipment, and provide both mobile and fixed LPR functionality. 

Ideally, the City would rely upon the same technology provider for both the fixed and mobile LPR 

solutions, providing the City with a dedicated vendor who would be responsible for the 

monitoring and upkeep of the equipment. Most importantly, the RFP should require proposers to 

outline methods for ensuring accurate data delivery and the ability to integrate with all current 

technologies that the City has deployed, plus future technologies that the City is considering.  

Recognizing that there are concerns over the accuracy of mobile LPR technology for use in 

enforcement activities, it is useful to note that there have been significant improvements with 

LPR applications in recent years and multiple providers who can be solicited for qualifications 

and references. Prior to issuance of a formal RFP, the City could consider an RFQ, followed by 

reference checks with clients who are currently using each vendor’s services.  

Upgrade Parking Transaction & Management Software. 

Innovations in parking data management solutions can enable detailed, real-time analysis of 

parking transactions and utilization in support of performance-based management. The data 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 26 

provided by these services can provide an in-depth review of historic and current parking 

demands while predicting future parking occupancies, enabling the City to act on a potential 

parking demand problem in a specific area before it happens by adjusting rates or regulations 

both on- and off-street. The City can assume active control of their parking inventory, optimizing 

their current parking assets and meeting the needs of multiple user groups. 

Quick Win: Upgrade & automate the permit wait list system to ensure efficiency and accuracy. 

The City and their operator should continue working to update the current wait list system to 

ensure an up-to-date catalog of parkers seeking monthly permits. As the City explores options to 

adjust rates and issue additional permits, it will be critical to have a dynamic, efficient, and 

accurate system that relies less on manual checks and direct communication and more on a 

clearly-defined, automated system of registration, confirmation, and issuance. New transaction 

and management software can help facilitate these enhancements. A reimbursable fee can be 

charged to wait list members in order to register and hold a slot, and annual (or semi-annual) 

updates can ensure that the list is current and permits are being issued to eligible parkers.   

In the near-term, the City should explore options for contracting services that track parking 

patterns in real-time across networked on-street meters and off-street payment systems, using 

algorithms to convert this data into estimates of parking utilization and availability. Such services 

are relatively new, and often require “spot checks” of actual utilization/availability counts, via 

manual surveys or through LPR data, to establish and maintain accuracy. Taking the same 

approach as in the previous section, an initial RFQ for provider services should provide valuable 

information and references that the City can use to evaluate options leading up to a more formal 

RFP for a parking data management solution. 

Vendors such as Smarking, ParkHub, and Luum offer a variety of services and the City should 

solicit their existing vendors to identify potential integrated solutions that may be available to 

them to help support parking data management and broader access and mobility solutions. 

ParkMobile, for example, has recently established several integrations that may be able to support 

Birmingham’s efforts, including on- and off-street payments, transit ticketing, pre-paid parking 

and reservations, valet, fleet vehicle programs, permit management, and charging stations 

pay ments. Recent RFQs from the City of Las Vegas and the District of Columbia could also 

provide insight into Birmingham’s approach to this opportunity. 

Optimize Management & Operations 

Ensure streamlined and coordinated management within the City, while maximizing 

opportunities related to public and private growth, mobility, and sustainability initiatives.  

Solicit Competitive Bids for Operator Services. 

The City has contracted with SP+ for facility maintenance and operations for its five parking 

structures since 1991. The service agreement has not been subject to competitive bidding or 

amendment since the original signing date, while technologies and management needs have 

changed. Drafting a solicitation for operator services will support new technologies and changing 

needs of the City and provide an opportunity to build in best practices and needs for current and 

future initiatives including: 

 Customer service benchmarks 

 General and specific garage maintenance requirements 

 Coordination of parking information with the City and local stakeholders 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 27 

 Providing advisory services on technology, policy, and parking data 

 Collection, invoicing, and depositing of parking revenues 

 Ability to monitor and provide service to parking garage equipment 

 Permit management tools 

In the near-term, City  staff should work with the Advisory Parking Committee to evaluate 

comparable municipal programs that have service and operator agreements for their public 

facilities to identify best practices and lessons learned. By engaging other municipalities in 

reviewing their parking operator services, the City will be able to incorporate their own needs in 

the above key areas with successes and failures from their peers. This will help the City in crafting 

a comprehensive solicitation which not only incorporates the needs of Birmingham, but also 

identifies opportunities and services that should be considered, based upon the experiences of 

similar communities. The comprehensive solicitation should include: 

 Support services, including customer service 

 Permit management 

 PARCS equipment, including integrated counting systems 

 Security surveillance systems 

 Elevator maintenance  

 Preventative and long-term maintenance and cleaning 

 LPR – fixed and mobile – including maintenance and warranty 

 Data management and reporting solutions 

 Valet services 

 Way finding & signage  

 Real-time information applications for owners and customers 

State of the Practice examples of solicitation notices are provided as an appendix to this report.  

Establish a Parking Ambassador Program. 

Many cities have shifted parking enforcement from police departments to other city or quasi-
public agencies whose staff can focus their full attention on improving compliance and customer 
service. Examples of parking “ambassador” programs in cities like Omaha, NE and Fayetteville, 
AR place an emphasis on a customer service approach to enforcement. The first priority for these 
officers is to help visitors find their way and utilize the parking system appropriately, but their 
authority still allows them to monitor compliance and issue citations.  

Quick Win: Rebrand the Birmingham Police Department’s Parking Enforcement Assistant as 
“Parking Ambassadors” and ensure they have on-going training relative to visitor amenities, 
parking technologies, policies, and general parking information. 

Parking enforcement staff is often the only interaction that visitors have with representatives of 
the City, so they should be a positive representation for the community. A parking ambassador 
approach encourages a positive interaction, creating a better image for the City. Parking 
Ambassadors can be responsible for education and outreach to inform the public about program 
changes while performing their parking compliance duties.  

Long-term, the City should monitor their current approach to parking enforcement, both from a 

customer service and from a resource/capacity standpoint. Adjustments can be made if Police 
Department staff would be better utilized on more pressing issues around community safety and 
well-being, or if repositioning of the parking enforcement “ambassadors” in a different 
department or partner agency would better align with City and community goals.  



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 28 

Refine the Assessment District Fee Approach. 

The current Birmingham Parking Assessment District model relies on periodic fees assessed to 

property owners in the district to support investments in public parking infrastructure, as needs 

arise. An alternative model, whereby fees are assessed on a consistent basis, may be more 

sustainable and politically feasible, while also providing a dependable revenue stream to support 

these capital investments, as well as potential City partnerships in joint-developments that 

address downtown’s parking needs.   

In the near-term, the City should evaluate the political and economic benefits and drawbacks of a 

revised approach, featuring a consistently collected assessment that can be set at a modest level. 

The public relations side of this option cannot be understated, and should focus on the 

predictability of a normalized assessment as a way to avoid the need for much larger “special” 

assessments if/when a new parking structure or other significant infrastructure need arises. This 

may also help reduce resistance to proposed new developments, which may trigger existing 

property-owner fears of a sudden and significant increase in their assessment liability. It will also 

make the cost of owning downtown property more predictable, attracting further investment.  

Prepare for Future Growth 

Develop Park Once zoning strategies. 

Birmingham’s zoning code already addresses parking design standards in detail and establishes a 

progressive set of parking requirements around new development in the downtown area and the 

Parking Assessment District. A deeper evaluation of the zoning code should be completed in 

coordination with the City’s upcoming Master Plan process to ensure that parking can be 

expanded, as needed, to support continued growth in the downtown area, as well as in other 

mixed-use growth districts.  

Focusing on a “Park Once” approach would embrace several of the following objectives and 

benefits: 

 Ensure that public parking supplies can be expanded as needed, to avoid the redundant 

inefficiencies created by conventional parking requirements. 

 Encourage continued growth by offering developers a variety of options to accommodate 

and/or mitigate the parking demand impacts of their projects.  

 Generate mobility improvements and demand-reduction programs to both reduce 

parking demand and enhance increasingly sought-after multimodal amenities. 

 Encourage shared use of existing private parking facilities that were built to meet 

previous parking requirements. 

Elements to include in park-once zoning: 

 Incentives to provide shared parking in privately developed parking facilities 

 Limits on private, single-use on-site parking  

 No limits on shared, on-site parking 

 Fee options to exceed limits on private, on-site parking or to waive on-site requirements 

 Incentives or requirements to directly provide mobility amenities and/or demand-

reduction programs, as appropriate to the scale and use-mix of the project. 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 29 

 A Joint-Development policy that leverages Park Once zoning, and seeks public-private, 

mixed-use projects as the primary mode of expanding public parking. 

In the near-term, the City should evaluate its zoning code to uncover any conflicts between current 

regulations and the community’s vision for creating walkable, mixed-use districts and should 

ensure that the Park Once approach to zoning is prioritized in the Master Plan process.  

Invest parking revenues in public improvements, beyond parking. 

Investing permit and meter revenue in local improvements can reinforce the message that the 

primary purpose of charging for parking is to manage the system, manage demand, and keep 

spaces available, not to fill budget gaps. Merchants, in particular, are much more likely to be 

supportive when they know that increased parking revenues will translate into noticeable public 

improvements. The primary purpose of the current parking fund – to maintain the parking 

sy stem and fund expansion as necessary – would remain, while a relatively modest share of 

revenues would be available for improvements to streetscapes, public spaces, and mobility 

improvements that can directly reduce future parking expansions. 

In the near-term, the City should evaluate potential restrictions on use of Parking System 

Enterprise Funds for non-parking improvements. If flexibility exists, the City should then pursue 

the following approach: 

 Promote a “benefit district” approach to raise awareness of the local improvements 

provided by parking revenues.   

 Evaluate access and mobility priorities with the Multimodal Transportation Board to 

determine where investments can address community needs. 

 Ensure that benefits include non-driving mobility and commuter-benefit investments 

that can reduce parking demand (and, thus, performance-based rates).  

 Provide annual updates on key investments made with parking revenues within an 

annual Performance-Based Management Report.   

Continue to refine Joint-Development approach. 

The pending redevelopment of the N. Old Woodward Garage is a great example of the City 

pursuing expansion of public parking via joint-development. In cities like Grand Rapids and Ann 

Arbor, similar approaches have become the default means of expanding parking-system supplies, 

taking advantage of the cost-sharing and facility-design benefits they offer, as compared to 

building dedicated parking structures.  

As alluded to in the previous section, the City should consider opportunities to invest Parking 

Assessment revenues in these opportunities as a way of meeting the needs of the public parking 

supply. Development agreements will need to be explicit about the public improvements and City 

ownership/control of specific parking assets, in order to ensure that the assessment funds are 

dispersed as intended and remain invested in a public asset.   

In the near-term, the City should continue to pursue the N. Old Woodward & Bates Street 

redevelopment project with the dual aims of increasing downtown investment and meeting the 

growing demand for parking within the downtown parking system.   

In the long-term, the City should identify additional opportunities for the joint-development 

approach, including the existing public parking deck locations or public/private properties that 

are underutilized and could support mixed-use development that incorporates additional public 

parking supply. 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 30 

IMMEDIATE ACTION STEPS 

The chart on the following page provides a summary of “Immediate Action Steps” that the City 
and its partners can follow to facilitate direct impacts on the priority areas. They are organized 
into the following five (5) areas: 

Update Permit System, Rates, & Sales 

Implement Performance-Based On-Street Pricing  

Expand Effective Capacity of Existing Supply 

Improve Parking Experience and Information 

Improve Internal Organization 

A comprehensive Implementation Guide is provided as an appendix to this report and 

summarizes the “Quick Wins” and near-term actions outlined in the previous section.  

  



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates, Inc. | 31 

IMMEDIATE ACTION STEPS 

Recommendation Key Action Steps Responsible Parties Target Outcomes Other Considerations 

Update Permit 
System, Rates, 

& Sales 

 Upgrade and automate the permit wait list system. 

 Solicit contractor service for tracking parking use and integrating with management systems.  

 Offer permits to the first 10 people on the wait list for the Pierce and Peabody garages. 

 Increase the Chester, Park, and N. Old Woodward permit rates by $10. 

 Offer discounted and “flex” permit rates for carpools and vanpools and occasional parkers. 

 Monitor utilization, issue more permits every 3 months, and further adjust rates as needed. 

 City of Birmingham 

 City  Manager 

 City  Commission 

 Adv isory  Parking Committee 

 SP+ 

 Employers 

 Accurate, real-time permit & utilization data 

 More permits sold / smaller permit wait list 

 Reduced gap between permit and daily 
parking rates 

 Increased permit revenue 

 Greater non-drive-alone mode share 

 Adjustments to pricing should be made in line 
with issuance of new permits. 

 Consider long-term target rates and phasing 
plan to approach new rate structure.  

 Communicate and promote objectives and 
opportunities with a clear communication plan. 

Implement 
Performance-

Based On-
Street Pricing  

 Adopt a policy linking parking rates to demand and establish availability as the KPI. 

 Establish a third pricing tier and “premium rate” area to shift parking activity. 

 Make some currently- metered spaces free during hours when capacity is constrained. 

 Activate meter sensors to assist with enforcement and data collection efforts. 

 Monitor utilization to establish a solid base of data to inform policies and adjustments. 

 City of Birmingham 

 City  Manager 

 Police Department 

 City  Commission 

 Adv isory  Parking Committee 

 Birmingham Shopping District 

 CivicSmart 

 Consistent, dependable on-street availability 

 More even distribution of peak hour utilization 

 Greater utilization of remote on-street spaces 

 Improved enforcement of on-street regulations 

 Accurate, real-time utilization data 

 Communicate and promote objectives and 
opportunities with a clear sign & 
communication plan.  

 Monitor equipment accuracy with regular 
manual checks. 

Expand 
Effective 

Capacity of 
Existing Supply 

 Institute an employee permit program in residential permit parking zones. 

 Provide a discrete number of permits for use on under-utilized metered blocks. 

 Examine on-street permit options on blocks that are not currently metered or restricted. 

 Reduce the number of spaces held for short-term parkers in select garages. 

 Optimize the rooftop and on-street valet services with mobile function & improved locations. 

 City of Birmingham 

 City  Manager 

 Police Department 

 City  Commission 

 Adv isory  Parking Committee 

 SP+ 

 In-House Valet 

 More permits sold / smaller permit wait list 

 Greater utilization of remote on-street spaces 

 Increased permit revenue 

 Greater utilization of commuter valet program  

 Improved valet program customer satisfaction  

 Communication with adjacent property owners 
and permit-holders will be key. 

 Enforcement will be critical to success. 

 Valet program costs and revenues should 
balance for a sustainable program. 

 Valet locations must weigh options for 
convenience, circulation, and other needs.  

Improve 
Parking 

Experience and 
Information 

 Implement a comprehensive communication plan to help drivers find right-fit parking.  

 Develop signage to reflect parking options in support of the performance-based approach. 

 Create a “welcome” package for new and ex isting employees to outline options & benefits. 

 Focus “Parking Ambassadors” on customer approach to parking and access services. 

 Add mobile functionality to the valet parking service for both customer and operator use. 

 Add mobile payment option to parking garages and expand promotion of IN cards. 

 City of Birmingham 

 City  Manager 

 Police Department 

 City  Commission 

 Adv isory  Parking Committee 

 Planning Commission 

 Birmingham Shopping District 

 SP+ / In-House Valet 

 SKIDATA / Parkmobile 

 User-friendly parking system with ample, clear 
parking options 

 Increased adoption of commuter benefits 

 Better understanding of valet program use and 
function. 

 Reduced queuing and service calls at gates 

 Improved parking system customer 
satisfaction 

 Collaborate with strategic partners to inform & 
market parking system changes. 

 Look for opportunities to develop a “suite” of 
options that address parking & access. 

 Consider shifting parking enforcement to non-
Police Department staff 

Improve 
Internal 

Organization 

 Develop a comprehensive Operator solicitation that incorporates current City needs and 
opportunities for new or expanded services that meet City goals. 

 Evaluate the City’s zoning code in line with the upcoming Master Plan update to uncover any 
conflicts between park once strategies and existing regulations. 

 Begin a discussion of a revised Assessment District approach. 

 City of Birmingham 

 City  Manager 

 Planning Department 

 City  Commission 

 Adv isory  Parking Committee 

 Clear, current, comprehensive Operator 
agreement 

 Zoning code aligned with parking, mobility, 
access and development goals 

 Sustainable, dependable assessment model 
that provides consistent system revenue 

 Reference comparable municipal parking 
programs, operator agreements, and RFPs. 

 Weigh options that support continued 
development and access & parking needs. 

 Consider both economic and community/ 
political benefits of a refined approach. 



DOWNTOWN PARKING PLAN | FINAL REPORT 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 32 

LONG-TERM CONSIDERATIONS 

While the above recommendations focus on opportunities for near-term implementation, the City 

and its partners should keep the following considerations in mind as the downtown area and 

other nearby mixed-use districts continue their growth. 

Create a shared parking brokerage. 

Recognizing that the opportunities are currently limited, Birmingham and its partners can look 

for opportunities to develop a shared parking brokerage that includes both public and private 

facilities. Once pay-by-phone options have been established in downtown parking garages, the 

brokerage concept can provide opportunities to both expand the effective capacity of the entire 

downtown parking supply and to increase revenues for owners of parking supplies that are 

regularly under-utilized. The City, or another coordinating entity, would create a sense of 

cohesion and authenticity among the shared facilities that does not currently exist, increasing the 

legibility of the system as a whole and improving the user experience for the general public.  

Monitor Emerging Mobility options and impacts on local access issues. 

Birmingham should continue to monitor emerging mobility options, including shared ride, 

electric, and autonomous vehicles, plus services provided by a growing number of transportation 

network companies (TNCs). As the alternatives to single-occupant-vehicle trips develop or 

mature, they could offer options that downtown commuters, residents, or visitors would support 

for some portion of trips. The impacts could include reduced demand for parking spaces (if 

personal vehicle ownership or use declines) or different kinds of parking spaces (for electric 

vehicles or for pick-up/drop-off by TNCs) that might warrant a shift in how Birmingham’s 

downtown parking system is managed. 

Develop TDM standards for downtown development.  

In line with Birmingham’s effort to evaluate its zoning code and consider modifications to the 

Assessment District model, the City should evaluate the potential to establish requirements 

and/or incentives to include transportation demand management (TDM) strategies in downtown 

development projects. These can address growing concerns about the increasing demand on 

shared parking resources with lower cost interventions that focus on shifting travel behaviors. 

Examples include the following: 

 Unbundled parking (parking is an optional cost for tenants who store a vehicle on-site) 

 Car-share vehicles and/or parking  

 Provision of shared bicycles or sponsorship of existing bike share programs 

 Contribution to other shared mobility services, such as a downtown circulator 

 Showers, lockers, and changing facilities for bicycle commuters (in commercial facilities) 

 Transit pass benefits for residents or employees 

Continue to improve and promote active transportation options. 

As outlined in the Potential Strategies Overview, the City should continue to build on its 

successful efforts to promote a walkable, bikable downtown. These include improvements to the 

pedestrian and bicycle network in line with roadway reconstruction projects and extend to efforts 

that connect downtown to the surrounding neighborhoods and broader region. The city should 

continue its work with the Multi-modal Transportation Board and other local and regional 

agencies to implement the recommendations of the 2013 Multi-modal Transportation Plan. 



1 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Office of the City Manager 
 
DATE:   October 3, 2018   
 
TO:   Advisory Parking Committee  
    
FROM:  Tiffany J. Gunter, Assistant City Manager 
    
SUBJECT: New Parking Utilization Report Summary and Data Analytics 

Program Recommendation 
 
 
Recently, additional components of the Parking Utilization Report were developed to 
accommodate a request made by the City Commission to update the traditional reporting 
documents with more comprehensive information regarding parking system utilization.  There are 
two additional components that have been included in the Parking Utilization Report, which are 
the 1) Parking Utilization Dashboard and 2) the 10 am – 2 pm Occupancy Tables and Charts. 
 
The Parking Utilization Dashboard provides an illustration of a minimum six month rolling 
comparison of metrics using current and prior year usage data addressing monthly permit parkers, 
transient parkers, roof-top valet assist program adoption, on-street meter payment type 
distribution, visitors staying for more or less than two hours, and average occupancy levels in the 
parking garages during peak periods.  Staff is working to collect additional information that will 
eventually be added to the dashboard, such as number of hits on the parking widget and more 
information regarding on street metered parking as sensors are brought online and become 
operational.    
 

 



2 

 
 

 
The 10 am – 2 pm Occupancy Tables and Charts include a full month of manual reporting from 
June and July 2018 from Monday through Friday from 10 am until 2 pm in each of the parking 
garages.  The following is a snapshot during the first week of July.   
  

 
 
The parking system utilized 90% or more of its capacity for the majority of the month in July.   It 
is important to note that the table counts do not reflect the roof top valet assist capacity.  While 

Occupancy 10a-2p(Weekday Anaylsis) Occupancy 10a-2p(Weekday Anaylsis)
7/2/2018 10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm 7/2/2018 10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm

Chester(880) 756 773 759 751 763 Chester(880) 86% 88% 86% 85% 87%

N.O.W.(745) 556 573 578 590 584 N.O.W.(745) 63% 65% 66% 67% 66%

Park(811) 674 699 706 725 727 Park(811) 77% 79% 80% 82% 83%

Peabody(437) 291 307 285 286 294 Peabody(437) 33% 35% 32% 33% 33%

Pierce(706) 528 540 563 556 573 Pierce(706) 60% 61% 64% 63% 65%

7/3/2018 10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm 7/3/2018 10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm

Chester(880) 662 678 644 638 608 Chester(880) 75% 77% 73% 73% 69%

N.O.W.(745) 443 452 483 506 444 N.O.W.(745) 50% 51% 55% 58% 50%

Park(811) 684 699 674 667 628 Park(811) 78% 79% 77% 76% 71%

Peabody(437) 281 295 299 316 308 Peabody(437) 32% 34% 34% 36% 35%

Pierce(706) 400 417 458 506 476 Pierce(706) 45% 47% 52% 58% 54%

7/5/2018 10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm 7/5/2018 10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm

Chester(880) 631 663 674 676 673 Chester(880) 72% 75% 77% 77% 76%

N.O.W.(745) 359 387 404 398 409 N.O.W.(745) 41% 44% 46% 45% 46%

Park(811) 612 675 697 702 708 Park(811) 70% 77% 79% 80% 80%

Peabody(437) 187 210 223 225 232 Peabody(437) 21% 24% 25% 26% 26%

Pierce(706) 392 424 484 496 482 Pierce(706) 45% 48% 55% 56% 55%

7/6/2018 10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm 7/6/2018 10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm

Chester(880) 601 628 614 609 604 Chester(880) 68% 71% 70% 69% 69%

N.O.W.(745) 335 491 493 499 484 N.O.W.(745) 38% 56% 56% 57% 55%

Park(811) 518 602 575 512 543 Park(811) 59% 68% 65% 58% 62%

Peabody(437) 235 256 259 288 255 Peabody(437) 27% 29% 29% 33% 29%

Pierce(706) 433 442 485 516 506 Pierce(706) 49% 50% 55% 59% 58%

7/9/2018 10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm 7/9/2018 10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm

Chester(880) 854 865 848 846 849 Chester(880) 97% 98% 96% 96% 96%

N.O.W.(745) 617 667 666 667 664 N.O.W.(745) 70% 76% 76% 76% 75%

Park(811) 714 801 804 795 789 Park(811) 81% 91% 91% 90% 90%

Peabody(437) 345 364 361 354 372 Peabody(437) 39% 41% 41% 40% 42%

Pierce(706) 468 515 512 511 515 Pierce(706) 53% 59% 58% 58% 59%

7/10/2018 10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm 7/10/2018 10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm

Chester(880) 830 851 837 850 850 Chester(880) 94% 97% 95% 97% 97%

N.O.W.(745) 637 707 699 705 704 N.O.W.(745) 72% 80% 79% 80% 80%

Park(811) 752 798 809 809 788 Park(811) 85% 91% 92% 92% 90%

Peabody(437) 361 410 410 412 408 Peabody(437) 41% 47% 47% 47% 46%

Pierce(706) 791 598 628 678 647 Pierce(706) 90% 68% 71% 77% 74%

7/11/2018 10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm 7/11/2018 10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm

Chester(880) 836 878 871 871 863 Chester(880) 95% 100% 99% 99% 98%

N.O.W.(745) 603 682 688 690 696 N.O.W.(745) 69% 78% 78% 78% 79%

Park(811) 741 792 791 794 803 Park(811) 84% 90% 90% 90% 91%

Peabody(437) 340 387 396 381 382 Peabody(437) 39% 44% 45% 43% 43%

Pierce(706) 478 557 596 617 615 Pierce(706) 54% 63% 68% 70% 70%



3 

 
 

the City experienced a 499% increase in usage of roof top valet, at no point in time did the system 
exceed total capacity.  As pictured below, the accompanying tables for each of the garages 
provides an illustration of the month for each garage by time of day.   
 
    

 
 
As illustrated in the dashboard, the average occupancy during the month of June 2018 was 89% 
while average occupancy was 69% during July 2018.    
 
In order to obtain the occupancy data, the Parking Management staff is required to take a manual 
count every hour between 10 am and 2 pm daily.  The Parking Management staff is limited and 
this process is labor intensive.  As such, staff is engaging data analytics firms that offer programs 
that would provide the same and improved data in real time automatically.   

 

The information we have been obtaining manually is useful, but does prove to be a challenge 
for the parking operations team that is not specifically staffed for this purpose and does not 
possess the sophistication that a data analytics software would provide.  Using an analytics 
program would provide a platform that aggregates multiple data points, provides key 
performance indicators and analysis to complete the picture of how both on street and off 
street parking are performing and would ultimately assist us in reaching our goal of having a 
unified on street and off street parking meter application for our users to enjoy.  
 
Having an analytics platform for parking will provide key benefits, such as: 
 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

N.O.W. Occupancy-745 Spaces

10am 11am 12pm 1pm 2pm



4 

 
 

 Quick access to occupancy, revenue, payment information and better operational insight 
and analysis, 

 With PARCS equipment or third-party data sources, the City can transform operational 
decisions by understanding parker movement, parker duration, pricing segmentation, 
revenue per space, and space utilization, 

 Ability to leverage transaction data supports staff ability to make better recommendations 
on rate mix, staffing cycles or enforcement route planning. It provides another set of 
warning indicators enabling corrective actions to take place sooner. 

 

Using an analytics program would provide a platform that aggregates multiple data points, 
provides key performance indicators and analysis to complete the picture of how both on street 
and off street parking are performing and would ultimately assist us in reaching our goal of 
having an integrated on street and off street platform for the first time in the City and that data 
may be used to feed into a City Parking app for our users to enjoy.  
 
Staff has engaged directly with representatives from NuPark and Smarking, two of the leaders 
in the industry with respect to data analytics and parking platform management.  Staff did 
further exploration via phone calls and website reviews of other companies, such as Parking 
Logix and T2 Systems.  Of the companies reviewed, Smarking was the only provider with a web 
based open architecture that is able to integrate with just over 80% of parking applications in 
the market today.  They are able to pull our Park Mobile, SkiData, and Civic Smart data into one 
tool that we may then use for business intelligence, enhanced digital infrastructure, mobile 
applications, mapping, and connecting autonomous vehicles with real time parking information.  
Smarking also provides support staff to assist in evaluating and distilling the information being 
reported so the City can more readily use data to support policy decisions.  The staff support is 
included in the annual subscription fee.   
 
Staff is enthusiastic regarding the timing of this proposal given that the parking 
recommendation plan has been concluded and the sensors for the parking meters are nearing 
full operational status.  A fully executed agreement will coincide with parking meter sensore 
coming online. 
 
To date, there is no other data analytics system as comprehensive as the platform provided by 
Smarking.  Staff is asking the APC to consider making the recommendation to subscribe to one 
year with Smarking for an annual subscription of $3,294.54 per month ($39,534 per year) with 
a one-time installation fee of $7,906. 
 
SUGGESTED RECOMMENDATION: 
 
To recommend authorization of an agreement between the City of Birmingham and Smarking 
for a period of one year to provide parking platform management and data integration for all 
municipal parking structures and parking meters in the Automated Parking System for a 
monthly subscription cost of $3,294.54 per month and a one-time installation fee of $7,906. 
 

 

 

 



























 

1 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Office of the City Manager 
 
DATE:   October 3, 2018   
 
TO:   Advisory Parking Committee  
 
FROM:  Tiffany J. Gunter, Assistant City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Parking Garage – Sweeper Replacement 

 
 
In an effort to maintain a pleasant environment and cleanliness of each of our parking garages, 

staff recommends the replacement of the existing sweeper that currently requires significant 

maintenance after each use and at times is inoperable.   

 

The amount required for the purchase has been included in the current fiscal year budget.  Two 

quotes have been obtained, which are described in the table below: 

 

Vendor Name Purchase Price General 

Warranty 

Labor Warranty Component Part 

Warranty 

Nilfisk, Inc $43,911.71 4 Years 180 Days 8 Years 

Tennant $37,843.00 4 Years 180 Days 10 Years (500 Hours) 

 

Staff recommends that the APC select the Tennant quote, which is $6,000 less than the Nilfisk, 

Inc. quote due to a partnership agreement between Tennant and SP+.  

 

SUGGESTED RECOMMENDATION: 

 

To recommend the purchase of the Tennant Sweeper in the amount of $37,843.00.  Funds are 

available in account #585-538.001-971.0100. 

 

 

 

























 

1 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Office of the City Manager 
 
DATE:   October 3, 2018   
 
TO:   Advisory Parking Committee  
 
FROM:  Tiffany J. Gunter, Assistant City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Parking Garage –Handicap Parking Spaces Survey  

 
 
SP+ was asked to observe utilization of parking spaces for people with disabilities.  The 
observation period was from September 10 through September 14, 2018.  The results are 
attached to this memo.   
 
We observed that in both the Peabody and Park Street garages that the percentage of occupied 
handicap spaces throughout the peak periods of the day were above 86% at all times and often 
at 100%.  Staff recommends that the committee consider adding an additional 2 spaces at 
Peabody and an additional 4 spaces at Park street garage based on our findings.   
 
  
Suggested Recommendation: 
 
To recommend an additional 2 handicapped parking spaces be added in the Peabody garage 
and an additional 4 handicapped parking spaces be added to the Park Street garage. 
 



 N.O.W. Handicap Count

Completed by:

21 Spaces Total
September 10, 2018

10a 11a 12p 1p 2p
Handicap Occupied 9 10 13 7 10
Percentage Occupied 43% 48% 62% 33% 48%

September 11, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 11 11 10 10 8
Percentage Occupied 52% 52% 48% 48% 38%

September 12, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 5 9 10 12 14
Percentage Occupied 24% 43% 48% 57% 67%

September 13, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 9 9 11 12 11
Percentage Occupied 43% 43% 52% 57% 52%

September 14, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 7 9 9 14 13
Percentage Occupied 33% 43% 43% 67% 62%



 

1 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Office of the City Manager 
 
DATE:   October 3, 2018   
 
TO:   Advisory Parking Committee  
 
FROM:  Tiffany J. Gunter, Assistant City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Lot 12 Parking Count Survey – Southeast corner of Woodward and 

Maple  

 
 
SP+ was asked to observe utilization of parking spaces in the newly constructed Lot 12.  The 
observation period was from September 13 through September 28, 2018.  The results are 
attached to this memo.   
 
While we know that we are completed sold on the allotted number of passes (150), we are not 
seeing more than 10 cars parking in the lot daily.  These passes are sold quarterly.  Staff 
recommends that we increase the number of permits to be sold on Lot 12 by another 50 for the 
upcoming quarter.  We will continue to observe utilization patterns to ensure that the lot is 
available for all individuals who purchased a pass and will do quarterly surveys to adjust to 
number of available passes. 
 
  
Suggested Recommendation: 
 
To recommend authorization of an additional 50 parking permits for Lot 12. 
 



 N.O.W. Handicap Count

Completed by:

21 Spaces Total
September 10, 2018

10a 11a 12p 1p 2p
Handicap Occupied 9 10 13 7 10
Percentage Occupied 43% 48% 62% 33% 48%

September 11, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 11 11 10 10 8
Percentage Occupied 52% 52% 48% 48% 38%

September 12, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 5 9 10 12 14
Percentage Occupied 24% 43% 48% 57% 67%

September 13, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 9 9 11 12 11
Percentage Occupied 43% 43% 52% 57% 52%

September 14, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 7 9 9 14 13
Percentage Occupied 33% 43% 43% 67% 62%



Chester Handicap Count

Completed by:

26 Spaces Total
September 10, 2018

10a 11a 12p 1p 2p
Handicap Occupied 9 19 21 23 23
Percentage Occupied 35% 73% 81% 88% 88%

September 11, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 14 21 20 22 21
Percentage Occupied 54% 81% 77% 85% 81%

September 12, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 21 24 25 25 21
Percentage Occupied 81% 92% 96% 96% 81%

September 13, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 24 23 21 20 17
Percentage Occupied 92% 88% 81% 77% 65%

September 14, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 26 25 21 23 22
Percentage Occupied 100% 96% 81% 88% 85%



Park Handicap Count

Completed by:

18 Spaces Total
September 10, 2018

10a 11a 12p 1p 2p
Handicap Occupied 18 18 18 18 16
Percentage Occupied 100% 100% 100% 100% 89%

September 11, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 18 18 18 18 17
Percentage Occupied 100% 100% 100% 100% 94%

September 12, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 18 18 18 18 17
Percentage Occupied 100% 100% 100% 100% 94%

September 13, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 16 18 18 18 17
Percentage Occupied 89% 100% 100% 100% 94%

September 14, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 17 17 17 15 16
Percentage Occupied 94% 94% 94% 83% 89%



Peabody Handicap Count

Completed by:

7 Spaces Total
September 10, 2018

10a 11a 12p 1p 2p
Handicap Occupied 6 6 7 7 7
Percentage Occupied 86% 86% 100% 100% 100%

September 11, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 6 7 7 7 7
Percentage Occupied 86% 100% 100% 100% 100%

September 12, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 7 5 6 7 6
Percentage Occupied 100% 71% 86% 100% 86%

September 13, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 6 6 6 7 7
Percentage Occupied 86% 86% 86% 100% 100%

September 14, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 7 7 7 7 7
Percentage Occupied 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%



Pierce Handicap Count

Completed by:

18 Spaces Total
September 10, 2018

10a 11a 12p 1p 2p
Handicap Occupied 7 8 11 13 11
Percentage Occupied 39% 44% 61% 72% 61%

September 11, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 10 9 11 13 11
Percentage Occupied 56% 50% 61% 72% 61%

September 12, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 13 14 12 15 13
Percentage Occupied 72% 78% 67% 83% 72%

September 13, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 11 13 13 15 13
Percentage Occupied 61% 72% 72% 83% 72%

September 14, 2018
10a 11a 12p 1p 2p

Handicap Occupied 12 12 12 11 12
Percentage Occupied 67% 67% 67% 61% 67%



 

1 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Office of the City Manager 
 
DATE:   October 3, 2018   
 
TO:   Advisory Parking Committee  
 
FROM:  Tiffany J. Gunter, Assistant City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: BSD Annual Holiday Marketing Campaign  

 
 
Once again this year, the Birmingham Shopping District will air a holiday marketing campaign to 
include advertising on WXYZ TV Channel 7, WDIV Channel 4 and Comcast cable channels. 
 
The ads will highlight the downtown shopping, dining and spa experience.  Each of the ads will 
promote the popular “2 Hours Free Parking in the Decks” program, as they have in years past.  
The goal of the ads is to drive traffic to downtown Birmingham, benefiting merchants and the 
parking system.    
 
This year the Birmingham Shopping District is committing a total of $55,000 for the holiday 
shopping campaign.  They are requesting the Advisory Parking Committee approve a $25,000 
commitment from the parking fund for the campaign.   This would be the sixth year of a 
financial commitment from the APC. 
 

Holiday Advertising  

Print  $10,000 

Digital $15,000 

Broadcast $25,000 

Signage $5,000 

 
The advertising vignettes will provide a strong push for the parking system, as the host will 
close out every segment with a strong statement about parking in Birmingham.  These 15 and 
30 second ads will feature a graphic at the end of the spot highlighting “2 Hours Free Parking in 
the Decks” incorporating the parking logo for the shopping district. 
  
Suggested Recommendation: 
 
To recommend an expenditure of $25,000 from the Parking Enterprise Fund in support of the 
BSD holiday television campaign. 
 



 1

2 3 4 Chester-72 5 Chester-51 6 Chester-40 7 8
N.O.W.-130 N.O.W.-36 N.O.W.-24

Park-5 Park-8 Park-8

Peabody-49 Peabody-28 Peabody-43

Pierce-74 Pierce-56 Pierce-90

9 10 11 Chester-13 12 Chester-16 13 Chester-91 14 15
N.O.W.-24 N.O.W.-22 N.O.W.-50

Park-15 Park-10 Park-10

Peabody-88 Peabody-86 Peabody-71

Pierce-138 Pierce-114 Pierce-109

16 17 18 Chester-55 19 Chester-53 20 Chester-62 21 22
N.O.W.-62 N.O.W.-88 N.O.W.-78

Park-13 Park-24 Park-11

Peabody-46 Peabody-55 Peabody-31

Pierce-21 Pierce-62 Pierce-67

23 24 25 Chester-31 26 Chester-32 27 Chester-66 28 29
N.O.W.-57 N.O.W.-78 N.O.W.-93

Park-3 Park-52 Park-54

Peabody-33 Peabody-28 Peabody-49

Pierce-110 Pierce-94 Pierce-77

30

Structure Occupancy at 1pm Tuesday-Thursday
Available Spaces

SEPTEMBER 2018
Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday

Notes:



 1

2 3 4 5 6 7 8

9 10 11 12 13 14 15

16 17 18 19 20 21 22

23 24 25 26 27 28 29

30

Garage not filled. Garage not filled.

Garage not filled. Garage not filled.

Garage not filled.Valet-2 carsGarage not filled. Garage not filled.

Garage not filled.

Valet-2 cars

Garage not filled. Garage not filled.

Notes:

Garage not filled. Garage not filled.

Garage not filled.Garage not filled.Garage not filled. Garage not filled.Garage not filled.

Garage full list

Chester Street Structure

Labor Day-Closed

Tuesday ThursdayWednesday

SEPTEMBER 2018
Friday SaturdayMondaySunday



 1

2 3 4 5 6 7 8

9 10 11 12 13 14 15

16 17 18 19 20 21 22

23 24 25 26 27 28 29

30 Notes:

Garage not filled. Garage not filled. Garage not filled. Garage not filled. Garage not filled.

Garage not filled. Garage not filled. Garage not filled. Garage not filled. Garage not filled.

Garage not filled. Garage not filled. Garage not filled. Garage not filled. Garage not filled.

Labor Day-Closed Garage not filled. Garage not filled. Garage not filled.Garage not filled.

N. Old Woodward Garage

September 2018
Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday



 1

2 3 4 5 6 7 8

9 10 11 12 13 14 15

16 17 18 19 20 21 22

23 24 25 26 27 28 29

30

Garage not filled.

Garage full list

Park Street Structure

Labor Day-Closed

Tuesday ThursdayWednesday

SEPTEMBER 2018
Friday SaturdayMondaySunday

Garage not filled.Valet-11 carsValet-5 cars Valet-8 cars

Notes:

Garage not filled. Garage not filled.

Valet-7 cars

Garage not filled.

Garage not filled. Garage not filled.

Garage not filled.Garage not filled.Garage not filled. Garage not filled.

Garage not filled. Garage not filled.

Garage not filled. Garage not filled.



 1

2 3 4 5 6 7 8

9 10 11 12 13 14 15

16 17 18 19 20 21 22

23 24 25 26 27 28 29

30

Garage full list

Peabody Street Structure

Tuesday ThursdayWednesday

SEPTEMBER 2018
Friday SaturdayMondaySunday

Notes:

Structure did not fill.



 1

2 3 4 5 6 7 8

9 10 11 12 13 14 15

16 17 18 19 20 21 22

23 24 25 26 27 28 29

30

Garage full list

Pierce Street Structure

Labor Day-Closed

Tuesday ThursdayWednesday

SEPTEMBER 2018
Friday SaturdayMondaySunday

Notes:

Valet-5 cars



MONTHLY PARKING PERMIT REPORT
For the month of: August 2018

Date Compiled: September 18, 2018

Pierce Park Peabody N.Old Wood Chester Lot #6/$210 Lot #6/$150 South Side Lot B 35001 Woodward Lot 12

1. Total Spaces 706 811 437 745 880 174 79 8 40 40 150

2. Daily Spaces 370 348 224 359 425 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

3. Monthly Spaces 336 463 213 386 560 174 79 8 30 40 100

4. Monthly Permits 550 750 400 800 1140 150 40 8 30 50 150

    Authorized

5. Permits - end of 550 750 400 800 1140 150 40 8 30 50 100

    previous month

6. Permits - end of month 550 750 400 800 1140 150 40 8 30 50 100

7. Permits - available

    at end of month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8. Permits issued in

    month includes permits

    effective 1st of month 5 7 0 4 6 0 0 0 0 0 0

9. Permits given up in month 5 7 0 4 6 0 0 0 0 0 0

10. Net Change 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11.  On List - end of month* 1070 972 1010 1345 968 0 0 0 0 0 0

     **On List-Unique Individuals

12. Added to list in month 18 15 15 15 32 0 0 0 0 0 0

13. Withdrawn from list 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

      in month (w/o permit)

14. Average # of weeks on 143 82 141 126 57 0 0 0 0 0 0

     list for permits issued

     in month

15. Transient parker occupied 243 80 82 75 83 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

16. Monthly parker occupied 373 686 300 572 766 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

17. Total parker occupied 616 766 382 647 849 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

18. Total spaces available at

      1pm on Wednesday 8/22 90 45 55 98 31 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

19. "All Day" parkers

      paying 5 hrs. or more

   A:Weekday average. 169 208 116 146 121 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

   B:*Maximum day N/A* N/A* N/A* N/A* N/A* N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

20. Utilization by long N/A* N/A* N/A* N/A* N/A* N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

      term parkers  

(1) Lot #6 does not have gate control, therefore no transient count available

(2) (Permits/Oversell Factor + Weekday Avg.) / Total Spaces

* Average Maximum day not available currently in Skidata

** Unique invididuals represent the actual number of unique people on the wait list regardless of how many structures they have requested.



Total

4070

1726

2389

4068

4018

4018

0

22

22

0

5365

3348

95

0

109.8

563

2697

3260

319

760

0

#DIV/0!



SP+

Birmingham Parking System

Transient & Free Parking Analysis

Months of August 2017 & August  2018

August 2017

GARAGE TOTAL CARS FREE CARS CASH REVENUE % FREE

PEABODY 18,114             10,396            55,518.00$          57%

PARK 18,434             9,457              47,688.00$          51%

CHESTER 7,833               2,865              54,356.07$          37%

WOODWARD 14,555             7,091              39,876.00$          49%

PIERCE 30,218             15,426            78,247.00$          51%

TOTALS 89,154             45,235            275,685.07$        51%

August 2018

GARAGE TOTAL CARS FREE CARS CASH REVENUE % FREE

PEABODY 17,851             10,051            28,386.02$          56%

PARK 21,696             9,618              49,665.02$          44%

CHESTER 7,874               2,661              49,817.03$          34%

WOODWARD 13,536             6,227              34,215.02$          46%

PIERCE 27,771             13,586            67,893.03$          49%

TOTALS 88,728             42,143            229,976.12$        47%

BREAKDOWN: TOTAL CARS -.5%

FREE CARS -7%

CASH REVENUE -17%

 

Page 1



270

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM - Combined

Income Statement

For Periods Indicated

Month Ended 1 Month Ending Month Ended 1 Month Ending

REVENUES: August 31 , 2018 August 31 , 2018 August 31, 2017 August 31, 2017

Revenues - Monthly parking 190,467.00 429,559.00 243,624.00 434,411.25          

Revenues - Cash Parking 229,976.12 450,862.12 275,685.07 549,591.32          

Revenues - Card Fees 240.00 285.00 350.00 810.00                 

Revenue - Lot #6 22,182.41                27,687.41 16,095.00                16,995.00            

TOTAL INCOME 442,865.53 908,393.53 535,754.07 1,001,807.57

EXPENSES:

Salaries and Wages 65,833.23 130,319.51 62,120.27 121,010.60          

Payroll Taxes 6,260.77 12,398.89 5,735.69 11,187.94            

Workmens Comp Insurance 2,995.54 5,930.21 2,635.99 5,135.17              

Group Insurance 19,310.68 40,779.74 19,025.95 43,186.56            
Uniforms 440.47 750.53 929.97 929.97                 
Insurance 10,655.44 21,310.88 9,653.72 19,307.44            
Utilities 925.81 1,704.18 1,036.81 1,931.81              

Maintenance 14,036.72 27,340.49 3,258.80 4,080.66              

Parking Tags/Tickets 428.33 -                      

Accounting Fees 4,533.97 8,897.94 4,441.91 8,838.44              

Office Supplies 472.20 871.74 507.79 758.93                 

Card Refund -                      

Operating Cost - Vehicles 713.18 1,522.75 541.87 1,130.09              

Pass Cards 4,000.00 4,000.00 -                      

Employee Appreciation 64.00 -                      
Credit Card Fees 9,661.32 22,678.91 12,420.26 25,544.01            

Bank Service Charges 75.28 153.49 75.23 167.14                 

Miscellaneous Expense 392.79 695.72 358.94 585.97                 

Management Fee Charge 3,875.00 7,750.00 3,875.00 7,750.00              

TOTAL EXPENSES 144,182.40 287,597.31 126,618.20 251,544.73

OPERATING PROFIT 298,683.13              620,796.22          409,135.87              750,262.84          

 

National Garages / Central Parking System 9/26/2018 Confidential



270-6485

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM PIERCE DECK

Income Statement

For Periods Indicated

Month Ended 1 Month Ending Month Ended 1 Month Ending

REVENUES: August 31 , 2018 August 31 , 2018 August 31, 2017 August 31, 2017

Revenues - Monthly parking 35,765.00 75,700.00            39,863.00 71,037.25            

Revenues - Cash Parking 67,893.03 122,274.03          78,247.00 144,676.25          

Revenues - Card Fees 15.00 15.00                   165.00 285.00                 

 -                      

TOTAL INCOME 103,673.03 197,989.03          118,275.00 215,998.50

-                      

-                      

EXPENSES: -                      

Salaries and Wages 12,152.81 23,268.67            11,368.46 22,902.96            

Payroll Taxes 1,120.48 2,140.74              1,037.42 2,093.61              

Workmens Comp Insurance 553.21 1,059.50              482.50 972.02                 

Group Insurance 4,396.25 9,327.21              4,676.83 10,106.00            

Uniforms 80.20 142.22                 186.09 186.09                 

Insurance 1,992.68 3,985.36              1,860.60 3,721.20              

Utilities 353.81 420.18                 128.80 307.80                 

Maintenance 2,854.52 4,234.15              210.10 282.46                 

Parking Tags/Tickets 61.72                   -                      

Accounting Fees 899.37 1,764.74              865.37 1,730.74              

Office Supplies 94.44 174.35                 101.56 151.79                 

Card Refunds -                      -                      

Operating Cost - Vehicles 142.63 304.54                 108.37 226.01                 

Pass Cards 800.00                     800.00                 -                      

Employee Appreciation -                           -                      -                           -                      

Credit Card Fees 2,852.07                  6,056.94              3,525.20                  6,708.04              

Bank service charges 11.49 22.98                   20.10 33.22                   

Miscellaneous Expenses 32.23                       45.67                   20.12                       29.12                   

Management Fee Charge 775.00 1,550.00              775.00 1,550.00              

TOTAL EXPENSES 29,111.19 55,358.97 25,366.52 51,001.06

  

  

OPERATING PROFIT 74,561.84 142,630.06 92,908.48 164,997.44

     

       

National Garages / Central Parking System 9/26/2018 Confidential



270-6486

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM PEABODY DECK

Income Statement

For Periods Indicated

Month Ended 1 Month Ending Month Ended 1 Month Ending

REVENUES: August 31 , 2018 August 31 , 2018 August 31, 2017 August 31, 2017

Revenues - Monthly parking 19,275.00 56,590.00            29,432.00 54,307.00            

Revenues - Cash Parking 28,386.02 54,102.02            55,518.00 88,279.00            

Revenues - Card Fees 15.00 15.00                   -                      

 -                      

TOTAL INCOME 47,676.02 110,707.02          84,950.00 142,586.00

-                      

-                      

EXPENSES: -                      

Salaries and Wages 11,198.26 22,191.70            10,365.03 18,827.80            

Payroll Taxes 1,029.50 2,038.10              942.36 1,712.09              

Workmens Comp Insurance 510.00 1,010.75              440.01 799.47                 
Group Insurance 4,396.23 9,327.17              4,735.81 9,733.36              

Uniforms 80.00 142.01                 185.97 185.97                 

Insurance 1,520.17 3,040.34              1,419.03 2,838.06              

Utilities 143.00 321.00                 218.98 397.98                 

Maintenance 2,730.29 5,226.14              119.91 192.27                 

Parking Tags/Tickets 61.71                   -                      

Accounting Fees 809.19 1,584.38              775.19 1,550.38              

Office Supplies 94.44 174.35                 101.56 151.79                 

Card Refund -                      -                      

Employee Appreciation -                      -                      

Operating Cost - Vehicles 142.64 304.55                 108.37 226.02                 

Pass Cards 800.00 800.00                 -                      

Credit Card Fees 1192.87 2,708.40              2501.22 4,070.91              
Bank service charges 11.49 22.98                   10.10 26.01                   

Miscellaneous Expense 31.49 44.84                   19.33 25.93                   

Management Fee Charge 775.00 1,550.00              775.00 1,550.00              

TOTAL EXPENSES 25,464.57 50,548.42 22,717.87 42,288.04

OPERATING PROFIT 22,211.45 60,158.60 62,232.13 100,297.96

     

        

National Garages / Central Parking System 9/26/2018 Confidential



270-6487

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM PARK DECK

Income Statement

For Periods Indicated

Month Ended 1 Month Ending Month Ended 1 Month Ending

REVENUES: August 31 , 2018 August 31 , 2018 August 31, 2017 August 31, 2017

Revenues - Monthly parking 41,867.00                102,339.00          63,458.00                109,112.00          

Revenues - Cash Parking 49,665.02 87,304.02            47,688.00 106,018.00          

Revenues - Card Fees 90.00 90.00                   -                      

 -                      

TOTAL INCOME 91,622.02 189,733.02          111,146.00 215,130.00

-                      

-                      

EXPENSES: -                      

Salaries and Wages 13,315.85 27,054.30            13,675.07 26,803.16            

Payroll Taxes 1,232.40 2,503.73              1,256.98 2,465.24              

Workmens Comp Insurance 605.86 1,230.87              580.17 1,137.16              

Group Insurance 3,502.65 7,368.11              3,728.23 7,968.15              

Uniforms 80.00 142.01                 185.97 185.97                 
Insurance 2,276.47 4,552.94              2,125.49 4,250.98              

Utilities 143.00 321.00                 218.98 397.98                 

Maintenance 2,675.89 5,544.33              1,166.18 1,381.36              

Parking Tags/Tickets 61.71                   -                      

Accounting Fees 915.28 1,796.56              881.28 1,762.56              

Office Supplies 94.44 174.35                 101.56 151.79                 

Card Refund -                      -                      

Operating Cost - Vehicles 142.64 304.55                 108.37 226.02                 
Pass Cards 800.00 800.00                 -                      

Employee Appreciation -                      -                      

Credit Card Fees 2,086.34 4,304.54              2,148.46 4,943.24              

Bank service charges 11.49 22.98                   10.10 20.20                   

Miscellaneous Expenses 45.72 61.22                   21.92 32.16                   

Management Fee Charge 775.00 1,550.00              775.00 1,550.00              

TOTAL EXPENSES 28,703.03 57,793.20 26,983.76 53,275.97

OPERATING PROFIT 62,918.99 131,939.82 84,162.24 161,854.03

     

      

National Garages / Central Parking System 9/26/2018 Confidential



270-6488

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM CHESTER DECK

Income Statement

For Periods Indicated

Month Ended 1 Month Ending Month Ended 1 Month Ending

REVENUES: August 31 , 2018 August 31 , 2018 August 31, 2017 August 31, 2017
Revenues - Monthly parking 46,545.00 98,595.00            51,797.00 96,001.00            

Revenues - Cash Parking 49,817.03 118,357.03          54,356.07 105,658.07          

Revenues - Card Fees 75.00 75.00                   170.00 480.00                 

 -                      

TOTAL INCOME 96,437.03 217,027.03          106,323.07 202,139.07

-                      

-                      

EXPENSES: -                      

Salaries and Wages 15,887.85 31,564.94            12,101.81 23,598.56            

Payroll Taxes 1,649.83 3,290.68              1,148.75 2,213.04              

Workmens Comp Insurance 722.29 1,435.06              513.55 1,001.47              

Group Insurance 3,513.46 7,389.73              3,728.21 8,136.07              

Uniforms 120.27 182.28                 185.97 185.97                 

Insurance 2,450.00 4,900.00              2,286.60 4,573.20              

Utilities 143.00 321.00                 242.87 421.87                 

Maintenance 3,100.11 8,280.32              1,684.51 2,074.13              

Parking Tags/Tickets 181.48                 -                      

Accounting Fees 984.24 1,934.48              1,028.18 2,010.98              

Office Supplies 94.44 174.35                 101.56 151.79                 

Card Refund -                      -                      

Operating Cost - Vehicles 142.64 304.55                 108.37 226.02                 
Pass Cards 800.00                     800.00                 -                      

Employee Appreciation -                           64.00                   -                           -                      

Credit Card Fees 2,092.73                  6,132.03              2,448.87                  4,906.92              

Bank Service Charges 29.32 61.57                   24.83 67.51                   

Misc Expense 35.15 99.81                   93.83 102.80                 

Management Fee Charge 775.00 1,550.00              775.00 1,550.00              

TOTAL EXPENSES 32,540.33 68,666.28 26,472.91 51,220.33

  

OPERATING PROFIT 63,896.70 148,360.75 79,850.16 150,918.74

  

      

  
  

   

National Garages / Central Parking System 9/26/2018 Confidential



270-6489

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM N. WOODWARD DECK

Income Statement

For Periods Indicated

Month Ended 1 Month Ending Month Ended 1 Month Ending

REVENUES: August 31 , 2018 August 31 , 2018 August 31, 2017 August 31, 2017

Revenues - Monthly parking 47,015.00 96,335.00            59,074.00 103,954.00          

Revenues - Cash Parking 34,215.02 68,825.02            39,876.00 104,960.00          

Revenues - Card Fees 45.00 45.00                   15.00 15.00                   

 -                      

TOTAL INCOME 81,275.02 165,205.02          98,965.00 208,929.00

-                      

-                      

EXPENSES: -                      

Salaries and Wages 13,278.46 26,239.90            14,609.90 28,878.12            

Payroll Taxes 1,228.56 2,425.64              1,350.18 2,703.96              

Workmens Comp Insurance 604.18 1,194.03              619.76 1,225.05              

Group Insurance 3,502.09 7,367.52              2,156.87 7,242.98              

Uniforms 80.00 142.01                 185.97 185.97                 

Insurance 2,416.12 4,832.24              1,962.00 3,924.00              

Utilities 143.00 321.00                 227.18 406.18                 

Maintenance 2,675.91 4,055.55              78.10 150.44                 

Parking Tags/Tickets 61.71                   -                      

Accounting Fees 925.89 1,817.78              891.89 1,783.78              

Office Supplies 94.44 174.35                 101.56 151.79                 

Card Refund -                      -                      

Operating Cost - Vehicles 142.64 304.55                 108.37 226.02                 

Pass Cards 800.00 800.00                 -                      

Employee Appreciation -                      -                      
Credit Card Fees 1437.31 3,477.00              1796.51 4,914.90              

Bank Service Charges 11.49 22.98                   10.10 20.20                   

Miscellaneous Expense 33.11 48.00                   22.65 33.78                   

Management Fee Charge 775.00 1,550.00              775.00 1,550.00              

TOTAL EXPENSES 28,148.20 54,834.26 24,896.04 53,397.17

OPERATING PROFIT 53,126.82  110,370.76 74,068.96  155,531.83

  

     

     

National Garages / Central Parking System 9/26/2018 Confidential



270-6484

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM lot #6

Income Statement

For Periods Indicated

Month Ended 1 Month Ending Month Ended 1 Month Ending

August 31 , 2018 August 31 , 2018 August 31, 2017 August 31, 2017

INCOME

Revenues - Monthly Parking Lot #6 & Southside 22,182.41 27,687.41 16,095.00 16,995.00            

 

 

TOTAL INCOME 22,182.41 27,687.41 16,095.00 16,995.00

  

EXPENSES Liability Insurance

Office Supplies (Hanging Tags) -                      

Misc. 215.09 396.18 181.09 362.18                 

TOTAL EXPENSES 215.09 396.18 181.09 362.18

NET PROFIT 21,967.32                27,291.23            15,913.91                16,632.82            

National Garages / Central Parking System 9/26/2018 Confidential


	1_Agenda.20181003
	2_07-11-18APCmin
	3_Parking Plan Recommendations memo
	4_Birmingham Parking Plan - Final Report DRAFT 9.27.2018
	5_20181003 Data Analytics Rec and Parking Utilization Report
	6_Smarking Proposal
	7_20181003 Parking Garage Sweeper Purchase
	8_Sweeper Quote
	9_Handicap Parking - Garage Survey
	'10_2018 Handicap Survey
	'11_Lot 12 Survey
	'12_Lot 12 Counts
	'13_BSD Annual Holiday Marketing Campaign Memo 2018
	'14_Structure Occupancy (Available) September
	'15_Chester September 2018
	'16_NOW September 2018
	'17_Park September 2018
	'18_Peabody September 2018
	'19_Pierce September 2018
	'20_August 18 Monthly Report.xls
	'21_Free Parking Report
	'22_2018.2019 Monthly Income Statement



